Amino acids in sheep production

Susan A. McCoard¹, Francisco A. Sales², Quentin L. Sciascia³

¹Animal Nutrition and Physiology Team, Animal Nutrition & Health Group, AgResearch Grasslands, Palmerston North, New Zealand, ²Department of Animal Science, Instituto de Investigaciones Agropecuarias, Magallanes, Chile, ³Leibniz Institute for Farm Animal Biology (FBN), Dummerstorf, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Reproductive functions
- 4. Placental development and function
- 5. Embryonic, fetal and postnatal growth
- 6. Organ development and functions
 - 6.1. Gastrointestinal tract
 - 6.2. Skeletal muscle
 - 6.3. Mammary gland
 - 6.4. Immune system
 - 6.5. Adipose tissue
- 7. Supplementation strategies- constraints and opportunities
- 8. Summary and perspectives
- 9. Acknowledgements
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Increasing production efficiency with a high standard of animal welfare and respect for the environment is a goal of sheep farming systems. Substantial gains in productivity have been achieved through improved genetics, nutrition and management changes; however the survival and growth performance of multiple-born lambs still remains a problem. This is a significant production efficiency and animal well-being issue. There is a growing body of evidence that some amino acids have a role in regulating growth, reproduction and immunity through modulation of metabolic and cell signaling pathways. The purpose of this review is to provide an overview of what is currently known about the role of amino acids in sheep production and the potential for supplementation strategies to influence on-farm survival and growth of lambs.

2. INTRODUCTION

In some farming systems, genetic gain to improve prolificacy and carcass composition, improvements in crop production and better grazing management strategies have enhanced on-farm sheep performance. For example, the improvement in lambing percentage (number of live lambs per ewe mated) has been one of the key factors leading to increased productivity and profit for New Zealand sheep farmers. The New Zealand national lambing percentage has

increased over 26 percent in the last 40 years reaching an average of 124 percent (1). This gain coupled with the increase in market weight of lambs have both compensated for the 32 percent decrease in the national sheep stock numbers during the last 15 years, to maintain the productivity as measured by kg of meat produced (2). Lambing percentages of greater than 200 percent have been described in New Zealand (3, 4). Higher lambing percentages are associated with an increase in the proportion of twin- and triple-born lambs (5, 6), which have higher rates of mortality and reduced growth rates compared to singletons resulting from intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) (7-9). In addition, IUGR can result in permanent negative effects on growth, feed efficiency, body composition and thus poor finishing, meat quality and long-term health, thereby decreasing farmer profits (10, 11). Addressing this constraint will reduce lamb mortality and improve on-farm productivity (e.g. more lambs finished at weaning or increased postweaning growth to support hogget mating) and profit.

It is now well accepted that environmental signals play a key role in the ability of an animal to perform according to its genetic potential, with nutrients being one of the most important factors. Out of nutrients, the amino acids (AA) are not only the building blocks of proteins and other nitrogenous substances, glucose and fatty acids (12-15), but increasing evidence shows

that specific AA activate cell signaling ultimately influencing key metabolic pathways and important physiological functions (16-22). For example, in pigs, arginine and glutamine are crucial for intestinal growth, integrity and function and their supplementation can enhance embryonic survival, fetal growth, maternal milk production, neonatal immunity, and muscle and fat deposition without increasing food intake (23, 24). Importantly, research has demonstrated that animals have both metabolic and dietary needs for non-essential AA which were traditionally considered to be synthesized in sufficient quantities by the body to meet the needs of growth and optimal health, eliciting a rethink of the dietary requirements for all AA by livestock species (see (18) for review). Changes in dietary AA recommendations for pigs and chickens has already begun and is expected to deliver positive benefits through reduced protein content of diets, improved nutrient utilization, growth and production performance (see (18) for review). However, more research is required to understand what the AA requirements are for ruminants, and to identify the potential to address issues such as lamb survival, growth performance, feed efficiency and lifetime performance through specific AA supplementation. The effects of AA supplementation on sheep reproduction, postnatal growth and organ development is summarized in Table 1 and described in more detail in the subsequent sections. In addition, the physiological effects and potential biochemical mechanisms underlying AA supplementation in sheep is summarized in Table 2 and discussed in more detail in the following sections.

3. REPRODUCTIVE FUNCTIONS

It is well established that pre- and post-natal nutrition can influence reproductive functions of both males and female sheep (see (25) and (26) for reviews). For example, ewes underfed in the second half of gestation have offspring with fewer testicular Sertoli cells at birth (27) and onset of puberty in male lambs can be delayed following growth restriction in utero (28). However, there is a paucity of data on the effect of AA on fertility in sheep. In humans, a diet deficient in arginine decreases sperm counts by ~90 percent while the percentage of non-motile sperm increase by about tenfold (29), while in boars dietary supplementation of 1 percent L-arginine HCI increases sperm counts and sperm motility in boars (30). These observations highlight an important role for arginine in male fertility (see (31) and (32), for reviews). These effects may be mediated by increased synthesis of both nitric oxide (L-arginine is a NOS substrate) and polyamines which are essential to spermatogenesis and sperm viability. Using an in vitro approach, motility of sperm in rams has been shown to be dependent on nitric oxide action but that excess nitric oxide can be toxic and thereby reduce sperm motility (33). This indicates that there may be some potential benefits to ram fertility but experimentation in vivo has yet to be undertaken.

Nutrients also have a well-established effect on ovulation rate in ewes (34) but the role of AA to influence fertility has received little attention. Supplementation with branched-chain AA (BCAA) leucine, isoleucine and valine to ewes immediately before luteolysis increases plasma insulin concentrations and blood urea levels, which indicates increased supply of energy substrates to the follicles suggesting that BCAA may in part regulate the ovulation response to nutrient availability (35). Arginine supplementation to ewes has been reported to increase the number of corpora lutea and is associated with increased twinning rate (36). Supplementation of ewes with rumen-protected arginine may also increase ovarian blood flow (37). However, availability of tryptophan, tyrosine or a mixture of tyrosine and phenylalanine (dietary AA precursors for cathecholaminergic and serotonergic neurotransmitters) has little effect on gonadotropin concentrations in sheep blood and therefore are unlikely to mediate an effect on ovulation rate (35). While these studies indicate that specific AA have the potential to influence reproductive physiology, more research is required to evaluate which AA may be important, the critical time windows for intervention and whether changes in endocrine and metabolic function translate into differential production performance (e.g. lambing percentage).

4. PLACENTAL DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION

The ovine placenta, like those of all other species, acts as an intermediary between the maternal and fetal vascular systems, to regulate gas exchange. waste elimination and nutrient transfer (38). In sheep, this regulated exchange begins during the initial stage of placental formation, at around 20 to 30 days of pregnancy, when the chorionic membrane attaches to the uterine wall and forms placentomes (39). Placentomes are highly vascular placental contact points with a fetal side (cotyledon) and a maternal side (caruncle), with their number generally established by 40 days of pregnancy (39). Each placentome can be classified based on their morphological type (type A to D) which may differ in their maternal-fetal exchange area (40), oxygen exchange efficiency (41) and glucose transport (42). Early studies have shown that the number of placentomes (43, 44), placentome type (45) and placental weight (44) can be influenced by modifying dam feed intake in early pregnancy. Other studies indicate that both placentome size and type, which has plasticity throughout pregnancy, may be important in regulating gas exchange, waste elimination and nutrient transfer (46).

The uptake, metabolism and transport of AA by the ovine placenta are critical to the survival, growth and development of the fetus (47). Amino acids are major fuels for fetal growth (48) and are essential precursors for many substances in the mammalian placenta and fetus including

Table 1. Summary of the effects of amino acid supplementation on sheep reproduction, postnatal growth and organ development in sheep

Target	Amino acid	Supplementation method	Period	Amount	Outcome	Ref.
Fetus	EAA-NEEA		d. 134 pregnancy for 12 h		↑ BCAA in plasma	73
	BCAA	Parenteral	d. 126 pregnancy		↑ Ammonia	73
	Arg	Parenteral	d. 100 to birth	345 mmol Arg-HCl/kg body weight 3 times daily	↑ Birth wt. of female twins	77
	Arg	Parenteral	d. 100 to 121	345 mmol Arg-HCl/kg body weight 3 times daily	↑ Birth wt. of quadruplets	76
	Arg	Parenteral	d. 60 to birth	155 μmol/kg body weight, three times daily	↑ Fetal growth and birth wt.	75
	Gln	I.V.	3 days per week in succession from gestational d. 109–132	100 mg/kg, three times daily	↓ Growth restriction, ↑ Gly, Arg, Asn in plasma	98
	EAA	I.V.	4 days during late gestation (d. 130)	Rate required to achieve a 25–50% increase in maternal BCAA concentrations	↓ Hypoxia, respiratory and metabolic acidosis	104
Lamb	Arg	I.V		0.5. g/kg	↑ Somatotropin	87
	Arg	I.V		0.2.5-0.5. mg/kg	↑ Somatotropin	88
	Arg	Abomasal infusion	7 days	0.5. g ARG-HCI/kg BW 0.4. g/kg ORN.HCI	↑ Somatotropin	92
	Arg-Orn	Post- ruminal		Arg-HCI (0.5.g or 0.7.5 g/day/kg body weight) and OrnHCI (0.4.2 g/day/kg body weight)	↑ Somatotropin and IGF-1	94
	Arg	Oral	Birth to weaning	500 mg Arginine-HCL/day/kg body weight	↑ Growth in first 3 weeks	95
Mammary gland	Met, Lys	Oral			Gains in BW and N balance were increased in lambs nursing ewes fed protected amino acids	119
	RP-methionine or RP-lysine		8 to 23 weeks post-partum	Methionine 0.2.5 g; lysine 0.7.5 g/100 g DM	Changes milk fat composition	159
	RP-methionine	Rumen protected met+fat	2 weeks pre-partum to 13 weeks post-partum	5 g/kg of feed	↑ Milk yield, daily fat and protein yield in the first 7 weeks of lactation	160
	Arg	I.V.	d. 100 to parturition	345 μmol/kg bodyweight	Transient increase in milk protein yield and the absolute concentration of some milk free AA ↓ milk somatic cell counts	154
Muscle	Mixed AA	Parenteral	d. 130 gestation	2 h	Up-regulation of S6K	140
	Arg, Lys, His, Thr, Met, Cys	I.V.		10 days	↑ Rate of initiation of mRNA translation	146

(Contd...)

Table 1. (Continued)

Target	Amino acid	Supplementation method	Period	Amount	Outcome	Ref.
Ovary	BCAA		5 days immediately before luteolysis		Regulates ovulation	35
	Arg	Diet	15 days	0.5. g kg (-1) of body weight	↑ Corpus luteum number and twinning	36
	Arg	Diet	d. 8 to d 13 of the estrous cycle	360 mg/kg BW	↑ Blood flow	37
Placenta	Arg	Parenteral	d. 60 to birth	155 μmol/kg body weight, three times daily	↑NOS	75
Fat	Arg				↑ Hypertrophy of brown adipose tissue	200, 201
	Arg	Parenteral	d. 100 to birth	345 mmol Arg-HCl/kg body weight 3 times daily	↑ Brown adipose tissue	77
Wool	Met, Lys	Abomasal infusion		Methionine and lysine were infused at a daily rate of 2,46 and 5 g per sheep	↑ Wool growth rate	120

Table 2. Physiological effect and potential biochemical mechanisms underlying amino acid supplementation in sheep

Amino acid	Physiological effect	Potential biochemical mechanism	References
Arginine	Fertility	Increased nitric oxide production	33, 36
	Conceptus development	mTOR pathway activation	84
	Placental function and morphology	Increased thermogenic gene expression	75
	Fetal growth and development		75-77
	Neonatal growth		95
	Prolificacy		36
	Thermogenesis		77, 200, 201-204
	Milk yield and composition		154
	Immune function		182
Lysine, methionine	Milk yield and composition	Increased plasma low density lipoprotein synthesis	159, 160
Leucine, alpha-ketoisocaproate	Immune function	Modulation of T-cell type and number	180, 181

proteins, neurotransmitters and polyamines (49, 50). Placental transport is a major mechanism responsible for fetal AA homeostasis (51-53). Similar to observations in humans (54), growth-restricted ovine fetuses have reduced plasma concentrations of AA, and changes in the circulating concentrations of AA in the fetus mimic that of the dam (55, 56), highlighting the importance of placental AA transport across the placental barrier. Most AAs are delivered to the ovine fetus in greater amounts than required for net rate of accretion (57, 58), in an energy-dependent process (59, 60), resulting in fetal AA concentrations being higher than maternal AA concentrations (61). The relationship between maternal and fetal flux of AA has previously been reviewed (62). Briefly, fetal AA uptake

depends on the maternal AA concentration, and is mediated by AA transporters (63). There is no fetal uptake of maternal glutamate, aspartate and serine and these AA are produced by fetal tissue (57, 64-67). The fetal liver produces glutamate, which is taken up by the placenta, to produce glutamine and which is then returned to the fetus (68). Maternal serine is transformed in the placenta into fetal glycine some of which is delivered into the fetal circulation (66, 69) resulting in no transport of serine from the mother to the fetus. Instead, serine is produced mainly by the fetal liver (65).

Developmental changes occur in maternal and fetal plasma AA concentrations during pregnancy in

sheep that are mediated by the placenta. For example, between 40 and 140 days of pregnancy, changes in the concentrations of all AA, except for proline and tyrosine are observed in maternal plasma, while changes in the concentrations of AA, except for alanine, asparagine, isoleucine, leucine, phenylalanine, tryptophan and valine, are observed in fetal plasma (55). Factors other than stage of pregnancy may influence maternal and fetal AA profiles. For example, maternal nutrient status can influence both maternal and fetal plasma AA concentrations (70-72). In the pregnant ewe, prolonged maternal infusion of a mix of essential AA (EAA) and non-essential AA has been shown to only increase branched-chain AA (BCAA) and phenylalanine concentration in the fetus (73). In contrast, maternal hypo-aminoacidemia induced a reduction in fetal plasma EAA concentrations (74). Further, IUGR resulting from increased litter-size in sheep (9) is associated with changes in the transport of specific AA such as leucine across the placenta (59) and twin fetuses at 140 days of pregnancy have lower concentrations of histidine and glutamine and tend to have lower arginine and leucine concentrations in plasma compared to singletons (46) indicating altered placental nutrient transfer.

Fetal and maternal plasma AA concentration can also be influenced by maternal breed (61). Selection for ewes adapted to harsh environmental and limited nutrition conditions has been shown to provide the advantage of being able to maintain AA availability to the fetus during maternal nutrient restriction by altering placental efficiency (72) which may be mediated by changes in placentome morphology (45). However, it is yet to identify any potential role AAs may play in regulating these changes. Some studies hint at the potential use of arginine to modify placentome vascularity in early to mid-pregnancy (56, 75). Arginine is used by the placenta to produce nitric oxide, a key promoter of angiogenesis which is necessary to increase blood flow. and thus nutrient transfer, to and from the placenta (39). In sheep, placentome nitric oxide synthesis peaks on day 60 of pregnancy, and then again at day 120 (56). Parenteral administration of arginine between day 60 and birth prevents fetal growth restriction in nutrient restricted sheep by potentially increasing placental nitric oxide production (75).

There are a greater number of studies investigating AA nutrition from mid-pregnancy (day 100) to parturition, because this is the time period when fetal growth restriction is hypothesized to occur (76). Thus, the focus, like the earlier stages of pregnancy, has been on maternal-fetal effects and nutrient exchange rather than potential placental changes (morphology, gene expression, protein abundance, vascularity and cell turnover). In addition, only a small sub-set of the AA nutrition studies conducted during mid-pregnancy to parturition hypothesize what could be happening in the placenta (73, 76). For example, short term parenteral

administration of ewes (pregnancy day 126) with BCAAs increases fetal and maternal ammonia concentrations which the researchers suggest occurs because the placenta transaminates the extra BCAAs to provide glutamate for the production of progesterone or for purine biosynthesis (73). The parenteral administration of arginine to ewes carrying multiple fetuses has been shown to enhance the birth weight of female twins (pregnancy day 100 to birth; (77)) and quadruplets (pregnancy day 100 to 121; (76)), potentially through modification of placental vascularity and/or blood flow. Research has shown long-term treatment with sildenafil citrate increases fetal AA availability by increasing placental vascularity, leading to greater fetal growth (71). We have identified that improved growth of female twin fetuses and increased brown adipose tissue stores in all lambs in response to arginine administration (77) is associated with increased placental weight and increased proportion of type B everted placentomes (van der Linden, Sciascia, Sales, Oliver, McCoard unpublished observations). Placentome eversion indicates enhanced placental nutrient transport (41) highlighting the potential benefits of using AA to modify placental function and thus lamb birth weight.

It is clear that to date, there have been no specific studies investigating the role AA play in regulating ovine placental development and/or function during early to mid-pregnancy (day 30 to 100), and only a few published studies from mid-pregnancy (day 100) to parturition. This is not surprising as ovine nutrition research during pregnancy focuses on maintaining maternal reserves and nutrient delivery to the developing fetus rather than directly modifying placental function to enhance nutrient delivery. Considering the critical role the placenta plays in maintaining nutrient homeostasis in both the fetus and the pregnant dam, more research in this area is needed. Amino acids are not just nutrients, they have been shown to act as signalling molecules in a number of tissues in sheep and other species, to regulate pathways essential to growth and survival (19), and thus provide potential future research directions in modifying placental function to support fetal development.

5. EMBRYONIC, FETAL AND POSTNATAL GROWTH

Amino acids play an essential role in the development and growth of the conceptus (reviewed by (21)) as illustrated by the ability of increasing AA availability to the fetus to influence fetal growth (70, 78, 79). Long-term treatment with sildenafil citrate also increases the availability of AA in the conceptus by enhancing blood flow leading to greater fetal growth (71). Amino acids are required by the fetus for protein synthesis and oxidative metabolism. This is particularly important in sheep where approximately 25 percent of the fetal oxidative metabolic requirements in late gestation are derived from AA, which

is substantially higher than humans (10 percent) and cattle (15 percent) (80). Maternal nutrient status (70, 71) and breed (61) can affect fetal AA homeostasis.

During conceptus (embryo and associated membranes and fluids) development in the sheep, there are substantial changes in the fetal: maternal plasma AA ratios and the AA concentrations in both amniotic and allantoic fluid with substantial increases in the concentrations of alanine, citrulline, and glutamine in allantoic fluid between 30 and 60 days gestation (55). Both amniotic and allantoic fluid are a source of nutrition for the developing fetus (55, 81). Amino acid transport into the uterine lumen and uptake by the conceptus is mediated by coordinated changes in the expression of AA transporters (82, 83). Using a translational knockdown of the arginine transporter SLC7A1 to generate an in vivo nitrous oxide-deficient ovine conceptus, led to retarded conceptus growth during the peri-implantation period (pregnancy day 1 to 30) was associated with reduced levels of arginine, citrulline, ornithine, glutamine, glutamate and polyamines in the conceptus and ornithine and polyamines in uterine fluid (84). That study illustrated the importance of nitric oxide (regulator of angiogenesis and vasodilation) for conceptus growth, that nitrous oxide synthase-3 is the key enzyme for conceptus nitric oxide production and that this protein regulates arginine availability for polyamine synthesis in the conceptus, which are essential for the development and survival.

The AA that has received the most attention in the literature in terms of embryonic, fetal and postnatal growth in sheep, and other species, is arginine. During early to mid-gestation, arginine is abundant in ovine uterine fluid (82) and allantoic fluid (55). In nutritionally restricted singleton-bearing ewes (i.e. 50 percent NRC recommendation), parenteral administration of arginine in doses of 155 µmol/kg body weight, three times daily from 60 days of pregnancy to parturition, ameliorates fetal growth restriction and increases birth weight (75). Similar increases in birth weight were observed in quadruplets when their non-restricted-fed dams were supplemented with 345 mmol Arg-HCl/kg body weight 3 times daily from day 100 to 121 of pregnancy (76). Using a similar treatment regime and extending supplementation to term (147 days) resulted in increased birth weight of female twin-born offspring but not of males (77). The potential for maternal arginine supplementation to increase the birth weight of female twin born lambs contrasts with the results from the study by Lassala et al. (2011) where twinborn lamb birth weight was unaffected. This difference is likely due to the period of supplementation ending immediately prior to parturition compared to 125 days gestation in the Lassala et al. (2011) study. Fetal growth in twin compared to single-born lambs diverges from approximately 115 days of gestation (85) highlighting the importance of nutrient supply to the twin-born sheep fetus in the last 30 days of pregnancy. This concept of critical developmental time windows, and the potential for increasing fetal nutrient requirements in multiples to influence their response to AA supplementation ewes, was also highlighted by Satterfield *et al.* (86).

Arginine and ornithine can stimulate the production of somatotropin when administered via pulse intravenous infusions (87, 88). However, when administered into the abomasum via continuous infusion, arginine fails to affect endogenous somatotropin levels in lactating goats and cows (89-91) but increases somatotropin levels when given to growing lambs and beef heifers (92, 93). Davenport et al. (94) subsequently demonstrated that increasing post-ruminal supply of arginine HCI (0.5 g or 0.75 g/day/kg body weight) and ornithine HCl (0.42 g/day/kg body weight) can increase circulating somatotropin and IGF-1 concentrations but improved growth performance was not observed. These observations are consistent with our recent research which indicates that while supplementation of artificially reared neonatal lambs with milk fortified with 500 mg Arginine-HCL/day/kg body weight can increase lamb growth in the first 3 weeks of life, there was little evidence of an effect of arginine supplementation thereafter (95). These observations suggest that there are critical early developmental time windows where supplementation with arginine may be able to influence performance.

Glutamine is the most abundant free AA in colostrum and maternal milk (96) and in the body (97). Glutamine can influence immune function, growth performance and intestinal integrity (21) and is involved in the synthesis of other AA including ornithine, citrulline, arginine and proline, protein synthesis and has been used in humans as a supplement for low birth weight infants. Using an alcohol-induced fetal growth restriction model, glutamine supplementation (pregnancy day 109-132) has been shown to ameliorate alcohol-induced fetal growth restriction and the fetal bioavailability of glutamine and glutamine-related AAs (e.g. glycine, arginine and asparagine) (98). Intravenous administration of L-alanyl-L-glutamine dipeptide improves weight gain, intestinal integrity and aspects of immune function in early-weaned calves (99) but 1 percent L-glutamine supplementation of milk replacer does not alleviate growth depression in calves fed soy protein concentrate (100). Glutamine is also important as a fuel for intestinal enterocytes in sheep (101) as in other mammals (102, 103). While there is no evidence supporting the potential for glutamine to influence specific physiological functions in sheep, studies from other species indicate significant potential. especially for improving the integrity of the gut of the neonate, immune function and associated growth performance.

These studies highlight the potential for specific AA or combinations of AA to influence embryonic and fetal growth which may influence subsequent

survival and postnatal growth of lambs. It is important to acknowledge that despite the potential positive outcomes, adverse effects have also been reported. For example, short term (4 day) intravenous supplementation of pregnant sheep (pregnancy day 131) with a high protein diet enriched with a combination of essential AA at the end of gestation can lead to fetal hypoxia and respiratory and metabolic acidosis (104). Maternal AA supplementation has been reported to result in AA imbalances (73, 104, 105) which may explain some these effects. It is also important to highlight that the fetal response to AA supplementation may differ between normally growing and growth restricted fetuses. Growth restricted fetuses have differential substrate metabolic rates and hormone concentrations (106-108) and altered mRNA levels of key regulatory genes (109-111) which may influence their response to AA supplementation. These observations highlight the need for further research into the functional roles of AA, dose-response relationships and critical time windows for intervention on embryonic and fetal growth. Much of the current knowledge is based on component studies focused on understanding the roles for AA (or combinations of AA) in the regulation of tissue development, growth and function as outlined in the subsequent sections.

6. ORGAN DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTIONS

6.1. Gastrointestinal Tract

For the first few weeks of life the diet of preruminant lambs consists primarily of maternal milk and the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) functions in a similar manner to the GIT of monogastric species (112). Due to a range of factors, increasing prolificacy (twin and triplet births), immaturity of the neonatal immune system and intensive indoor-lambing practices, this time period is one of the most vulnerable for the establishment of pathogenic GIT infections (113). Secretory diarrhoea is the most common disease and is caused by infections with enteropathogenic Escherichia coli, Clostridium perfringens, rotavirus, coronavirus, and cryptosporidia, which can result in growth delays (and culling) and even death (113). To date, no studies have been conducted to investigate the potential of AA, or other non-antibiotic interventions (pre-, pro and syn-biotics), in protecting the pre-ruminant ovine GIT from pathogenic infection. Access to colostrum by the neonate and adequate intake of maternal milk have been viewed as cheaper less intensive alternatives to the use of supplementary nutrition. However, as prolificacy and the use of artificial rearing systems increase neonates are reared on milk replacers that do not contain the protective factors found in maternal colostrum and milk (114). Studies in piglets and other animals indicate that supplemental leucine, glutamine and/or arginine may improve GIT development and help protect against infection, or support the maintenance of normal GIT function during infection by maintaining tight junction integrity and reducing the inflammatory response (21).

As the pre-ruminant lamb transitions to a solid diet the rumen begins to grow and by adulthood, the ovine rumen can make up to 80 percent of the GIT volume (115). Almost all consumed diet enters the rumen, with the metabolites being passed onto the small and large intestine for utilization by the sheep (115). Thus, some nutritional interventions are targeted to this transition period to improve rumen development and function and subsequently enhance ovine health and performance (115). Creep-feeding systems result in better rumen development compared to sole maternal feeding as a solid diet triggers rumen growth, stimulates function and enhances the growth of rumen-associated-microbial communities (115). However, whilst a solid diet aids rumen development Harrison et al. (116) report that diet source appears to have very little impact on the proportions of AAs in digesta passed onto the ovine duodenum and ileum (116). Yet, there are major shifts in the pattern of AAs being delivered to the liver and peripheral tissues of the sheep, suggesting a functional change in how the GIT absorbs and or metabolizes AA (117). Potentially limiting AA for growth of the ruminant lamb have been identified in a study by Storm and Orskov (118), who observed that only methionine, lysine, arginine and histidine reduced microbial nitrogen retention when omitted from the diets of 2-month old Suffolk x (Finnish Landrace x Dorset Horn) castrated male lambs. However, supplementation with non-rumen protected AA show no consistent effect on sheep performance as they are generally metabolized by the rumen microbes before they can reach the small intestine. These studies also do not investigate the effect on GIT development or function. Rumen protected AAs have been used to bypass the rumen fermentation and assess the effect on the development and function of ovine mammary (119) and wool growth (120), but to date no work has been conducted to assess the effect on the GIT.

6.2. Skeletal muscle

Ovine skeletal muscle accounts for 25 to 30 percent of body mass at birth (121) and up of 70 percent of carcass weight at slaughter (122). The main components of muscle are the fibres whose number and size are the main determinants of ovine muscle mass. The number of muscle fibres is established during prenatal myogenesis (123, 124), and myogenesis is complete prior to birth (85, 125). Muscle continues to grow as a result of fibre hypertrophy (126). Skeletal muscle has lower priority for nutrients compared to other tissues such as brain, heart and liver during fetal development resulting in muscle being more vulnerable to nutrient deficiency (127). In a maternal ad libitum fed state, the fetal hindlimb takes up most of the AA (128). During maternal fasting, several AA, including glutamine and alanine are released by the fetal hindlimb (129), while the uptake of BCAA increases (130, 131). Glutamine (132) and alanine (133) released from the hindlimb can potentially generate glucose in the fetal liver.

The effect of restricted maternal nutrition on fetal and muscle growth depends not only on its level but also on the timing (134). Severe maternal nutritional restriction (i.e. 50 percent of total requirements) during early pregnancy (less than 80 days pregnancy) is associated with a decrease in the number of secondary fibres, affecting fetal muscle growth (127, 134, 135), with postnatal carryover effects (127). Restricted fetal nutrition in late pregnancy (greater than 100 days) resulting from twin-induced placental insufficiency can reduce muscle weight (134, 136) and is associated with reduced muscle protein synthesis (137) and fibre density (135). In the latter stages of pregnancy, skeletal muscle growth increases rapidly (138), and the fetus responds to infusion of specific (e.g. arginine) or a mix of AA by increasing protein synthesis (79). This response during fetal life appears to be associated with the activation of mTOR signaling in skeletal muscle (139, 140). A study by Sciascia et al. (141) has shown that the semitendinosus muscle of late-pregnancy twins have lower abundance of mTOR signaling proteins and rRNA compared to singletons. Zhu et al. (142) has also shown that maternal nutrient restriction from day 28 to 78 of pregnancy results in a reduction of the active forms of mTOR (Ser2448) and ribosomal protein S6 (Ser235/236), signaling factors associated with the regulation of protein synthesis. The reduced activation of mTOR and RPS6 was associated with a lower ratio of secondary to primary muscle fibres, which can negatively impact muscle development. In contrast, maternal over-nutrition (1.5 times NRC total requirements), negatively impacts the activation of mTOR and reduces cell density of fetal muscle (143). The results from these studies highlight the potential role mTOR in regulating fetal muscle development by linking its role as a nutrient sensor to the nutrient status of the fetal environment.

Intracellular concentrations of AA can regulate mTOR signaling (144, 145), however, the mechanisms through which AA modulate the activation of mTOR are not fully understood. There is limited literature examining the association of AA supplementation and mTOR activation in sheep. A study by Brown et al. (140) showed that parenteral administration of a mix of AA into the fetus resulted in the insulin dependent up-regulation of S6K in the fetal biceps femoris skeletal muscle. Other studies in sheep have shown that ewe lambs (5 to 8 months old) infused with a mixture of 6 AA (arginine, lysine, histidine, threonine, methionine, and cysteine) in the ratio found in bovine milk resulted in improved rate of initiation of mRNA translation (146). A recent study by Sales et al. (147) has shown that free AA concentration varies in the fetal muscle at term, according to maternal size, nutrition and number of conceptus. The semitendinosus muscles of twin fetuses have reduced concentrations of leucine, threonine and valine and higher concentrations of methionine, ornithine, lysine and serine (136). In addition, increased semitendinosus muscle weight was

positively correlated (r = 0.7) with arginine concentration suggesting that arginine may act as a limiting nutritional and/or signaling AA for twin fetal muscle growth (147). Parenteral arginine supplementation of pregnant ewes from day 100 to birth increases birth weight of female twin-born lambs, potentially through an increase in muscle growth mediated by increased abundance of mTOR (95). Similarly, arginine supplementation during the first 3 weeks of life increases the efficiency of body growth, resulting in heavier muscles at weaning but only in females (95). Studies in other species indicate it may play an important role in regulating muscle mass (148, 149), however the potential role for arginine to be an activator of mTOR signaling in ovine skeletal muscle remains to be established.

6.3. Mammary gland

The ovine mammary gland goes through five distinct stages of development, in utero, prepubertal, pubertal, pregnancy, lactation and involution, and studies show that altered planes of nutrition throughout development can impact future milk production (150, 151). A high plane of dam nutrition (high: straw ad libitum +1.0 kg concentrates vs. low: straw ad libitum) from d 70 - d 140 of pregnancy increases milk yield, in early lactation (150). A low plane of nutrition from d 98 - parturition negatively impacts ewe milk yield and composition (152). A low plane of dam nutrition from d 21 - d 140 of pregnancy has been shown to reduce fetal mammary gland size at d 140 but increase firstlactation milk production of their offspring (153). The authors suggest that improved first-lactation performance was the result of inherited epigenetic changes, however a subsequent study by Sciascia et al. (154) showed that the increased first-lactation milk production was linked to changes in the abundance of fetal mammary gland mTOR signaling proteins. Interestingly, the mTOR pathway can be activated by AA sufficiency or specific AA, suggesting AA nutrition may play a role in modulating future lactation potential in utero (145).

Studies of ovine mammary AA requirements have tended to focus on the lactation period. This is no surprise as this is the period where ewes produce milk for their young and the direct effects of nutritional intervention can be immediately measured. The biological imperative to produce milk is enormous, placing increasing metabolic and physiological demands on the ewe. For example, the protein mass of the ovine mammary gland increases 100 fold during lactation. Increased mammary gland protein mass and milk secretion is initially achieved through the mobilization of body reserves and then by increased feed intake (155). Studies investigating mammary gland AA requirements during lactation identified three AA believed to be critical or limiting in supporting peak milk production, lysine, methionine and leucine (156). The "limiting AA" theory states that as milk production by the ovine mammary gland increases the dam must increase

the supply of substrates. It was hypothesized as the mammary gland approaches peak lactation a specific AA (first-limiting) or set of AA (co-limiting) becomes limiting as a direct substrate for milk protein synthesis or is used in the Krebs cycle for the production of other AAs, thus preventing milk production from increasing further (156). Lysine is taken up in excess of requirements for milk protein synthesis and is limiting in corn based diets used widely in the US dairy industry, whilst methionine is an EAA that cannot be adequately supplied by rumen microbial protein synthesis (157). It is currently unknown if AA are limiting in the diet of pastoral grazed sheep.

Original AA studies focused on using the three potentially limiting AA as nutritional supplements to complement for dietary inadequacy, or to increase milk production by increasing their availability to the lactating gland (119, 158). One of the first published studies to investigate the potential effect of AA supplementation on ovine lactation was conducted by Lynch et al. (119). The authors showed no significant effect of supplemental rumen protected (RP) methionine and lysine (methionine 0.11 g; lysine 0.13 g/100 g DM) on milk yield, milk solids, crude protein, ammonia or AA in black-faced ewes' (5 days to 8 weeks post-partum) fed a low or moderate crude protein diet (119). A later study by Baldwin et al. (158) utilizing Dorset ewes fed (5 days post-partum for 6 weeks) chopped alfalfa hay supplemented with RP-methionine (0.10 g/100 g DM) also showed no effect on milk yield or composition. Work by Sevi et al. (159) showed that the addition of RP-methionine or RP-lysine (methionine 0.25 g; lysine 0.75 g/100g DM) to the diet of lactating ewes' (8 to 23 weeks post-partum) may not influence milk yield, but changes fat composition. The authors used Comisana ewes' and showed dietary RP-methionine or RP-lysine supplementation increased the ratio of long- to short-chain fatty acids, a reduction in the potential health benefits of ovine milk. However this was offset by a modest increase in the ratio of unsaturated to saturated fatty acids. Sevi et al. (159) provided a potential explanation as to why the availability of additional methionine and lysine did not increase milk production. They discussed that the observations from their study suggest that increased methionine and lysine availability was being preferentially used for plasma low density lipoprotein synthesis, resulting in changes in the saturated fatty acid profiles of milk from supplemented ewes. To date, this theory has not been directly tested however a study by Goulas et al. (160) may provide some indirect insight. Goulas et al. (160) assessed the effect that supplemental RP-methionine (5 g/kg of feed) would have on milk production in twin-bearing Karagouniko ewes (2 weeks pre-partum to 13 weeks post-partum) fed a diet enriched with animal fat. Ewes fed the RP-methionine + animal fat diet had significantly increased milk yield, daily fat and protein yield in the first 7 weeks of lactation. After weaning (wk 8 to 13), no significant differences in milk production were

observed (160). Several possible reasons exist as to why Goulas *et al.* observed increased milk production whereas previous authors did not, breed differences, intervention time-point/frame, basal diet, protein quality and the addition of animal fat to the diet. The inconsistent results obtained from the various supplementation studies suggests that these AA are not limiting AA, or there is another concept being overlooked.

Another concept being considered is the use of AA as signaling molecules to activate pathways that increase lactation potential (157, 161, 162). The limiting AA hypothesis focused on AA as a nutrition source, but it is recognized that they play a much wider role beyond that of substrates for mammary gland protein synthesis (157). Arginine is extracted in the greatest quantities relative to milk protein output and is a precursor to nitric oxide (NO) production which regulates the local nutrient environment of the mammary gland through alteration of the capillary blood supply (157). Arginine administration (0.1 g/kg of bodyweight) to late-pregnant Holstein cows, from 7-days pre-partum to parturition, was shown to increase milk yield (163), whilst unpublished observations by Sciascia et al. (154) has shown arginine administration (345 µmol kg bodyweight) from day 100 to parturition in Romney ewes had no effect on milk yield. However, Sciascia et al. (154) were able to observe a transient increase in milk protein yield and the absolute concentration of some milk free AA. No conclusions on the use of arginine to improve lactation potential can be drawn from these two studies, but each was able to elicit a positive effect on mammary function and thus, provides the basis for future research using arginine or one of the precursors (citrulline (164) or N-carbomyl-glutamate (165)) known to elevate ruminant plasma arginine levels.

6.4. Immune system

The ovine immune system is one of the most characterized due to its use as a model of immune system physiology (166). It is comprised of two defensive systems, the innate and adaptive, each with distinct yet not mutually exclusive functions. The innate system is the first line of defense and begins with physical barriers such as the skin and mucous layers, and a host of antimicrobial factors. When the physical barriers are breached, cytokines produced by monocytes-macrophages and other non-immunological cells, such as fibroblasts and endothelial cells, regulate the next step. The cytokines can directly act against invading pathogens or indirectly by activating downstream immune-modulatory mechanisms that trigger the inflammatory response and activate natural killer cells and macrophages. The adaptive defense system is activated after antigens from the invading pathogen are processed and recognized. Once the antigen is recognized, the adaptive defense system makes immune cells specifically designed to attack that antigen and "remembers" the antigen to protect against future infections.

Dam and neonatal nutrition are important for the development and maintenance of a competent immune system (167, 168). Neonates are born with an immature immune system that cannot adequately protect them against invading pathogens, and protection is almost solely derived from the colostral antibodies (169). Then, as the neonate transitions from a liquid diet to a solid diet the rumen and associated microbial communities change, which can lead to increased susceptibility to pathogenic infection (170). Additionally, sheep may not acquire immunity to gastrointestinal tract parasites until 8 to 24 months of age (168). During late pregnancy and lactation, dams are believed to be at greater risk of adverse health effects from pathogenic infection due to changes in hormonal status that somehow lead to a depression in the immunological mechanisms that protect against pathogenic infection (168). Any infection during the pregnancy can lead to abortion (171), reduced weight of the dam and fetus (172) or lowered milk quality (173), however the exact mechanisms behind this depression are unknown.

Protein nutrition has been investigated extensively in sheep as observations from studies show that the source of dietary protein or level of metabolizable protein can decrease the susceptibility of sheep to nematode infection (172, 174). Van Houtert et al. (172) used fish meal as a source of RP-protein (and beneficial fatty acids) to supplement the diet of 3-month old Merino wethers experimentally infected with the nematode Trichostrongylus colubriformis. Supplemented wethers had increased circulating levels of neutrophils, intestinal sheep mast cells and lowered fecal eggs counts, and no loss in daily weight gain. Bricarello et al. (174) investigated the effect of diets with moderate (75 g) and high (129 g) metabolizable protein per kg of dry matter would have in Ile de France and Santa Ines lambs experimentally infected with Haemonchus contortus. Whilst both breeds were able to resist the pathophysiological effects on the higher protein diet, reduced Haemonchus contortus was only observed in Santa Ines lambs, indicating breed specific differences in the role increased protein supply plays in resistance to nematode infection. How dietary protein elicits a protective response to nematode infection is still debated but the prominent theory is that nematodes interfere with protein metabolism, resulting in reduced metabolite production by rumen bacteria (175) and/or AA uptake by the host (175) which influences the ability of the immune system to respond to nematode infection (176). Like many other tissues and aspects of ovine development and function, the role of AA in regulating and supporting immune is poorly understood. Studies investigating protein deficiency may shed some light on the potential role AA play in sheep. Diets deficient in protein result in reduced plasma availability of most AA including glutamine, arginine, tryptophan, methionine and cysteine (14) which have well established roles in modulating immune function (14, 177). Also, AA

supplementation studies in other species indicate that the arginine-family (178) and BCAA (14) can enhance immune function by stimulating the cyto-toxic activity of cells involved in the innate immune response and activate cytokine production.

A study by Kuhlman et al. (179) illustrated that in mixed-breed ram lambs infected with Brucella abortus antigen and porcine red blood cells, ruminally protected alpha-ketoisocaproate (RP-KIC) enhanced. RP-leucine depressed, and RP-isovalerate had no effect, on the immune response. In a follow-up study, Nissen et al. (180) were able to show that the opposing effects of RP-KIC and RP-leucine were due to how they differentially modulated the immune response. Lymphocyte blastogenic responsiveness to phytohemagglutinin-P and pokeweed mitogen was increased with KIC, whilst leucine responsiveness was decreased. This was a direct result of the increased percentage of circulating T4 cells in KIC fed-lambs and lowered percentage of circulating T19 cells in leucine-fed lambs (180). The same research group was also able to show that dietary KIC supplementation can compensate significantly for lymphocyte suppression and decreased ratio of T4 to T8 cells caused by treatment of lambs with adrenocorticotropic hormone (181). Recently, Sciascia et al. (154) showed treatment of Romney ewes from day 100 to parturition with arginine reduced milk somatic cell counts, which are primarily cells from the innate defense system tasked with protecting the gland during infection (182). How arginine supplementation leads to the reduction in somatic cell counts is still unclear, but it could be linked to its role in nitrous oxide or free radical production by immune effector cells (178, 183) but further research in sheep is still required. In addition, the mechanisms by which KIC and arginine affect immune function do not seem to overlap, suggesting treatment with both may enhance two independent functions of the immune defense system in sheep.

6.5. Adipose tissue

White adipose tissue (WAT) is the site of storage of excess energy in the form of triacylglycerols and it is formed when nutrients are consumed in excess of requirements. In periods of nutrient insufficiency, WAT undergoes lipolysis to provide non-esterified fatty acids for use by skeletal muscle and other organs. Strategies to reduce excess fat accretion are important for meat production from livestock species (21). Prolonged changes in maternal feed intake alter fetal WAT development (184). White adipose tissue mass in non-pregnant mammals can be decreased with dietary arginine supplementation including rats (30, 185, 186). humans (187) and pigs (188, 189). The mechanism mediating these effects are thought to involve decreased de novo synthesis of glucose and triacylglycerides and increased glucose and long-chain fatty acid oxidation (32, 186). Arginine supplementation also

increase lipolysis and inhibit lipogenesis by modulating key enzymes involved in fat metabolism and anti-oxidative response (190). Interestingly, dietary supplementation of adult rats with arginine decreases WAT with an associated increase in brown adipose tissue (BAT; see below) but the mechanisms responsible remain to be elucidated (30, 186). While the effects of arginine supplementation on WAT and the associated mechanisms are well established in humans and some animal species (191), little is known about the effects of AA on WAT in sheep. In sheep, there are well established gender differences in adiposity in early postnatal life (192). Both gender and twinning can also influence carcass fatness with twins having reduced carcass fatness compared to singles and twin females having more carcass fat compared to their male counterparts (193). Similar, but smaller differences were also reported by Afolavan et al. (194) likely resulting from differential production systems and genetics. The potential for AA supplementation to modify fat deposition in sheep has important implications for meat animals driven by increased demand for lean product of consistent quality with some processors imposing significant penalties when carcasses fail to meet specifications. This is important for producers due to rising costs of growing or purchasing high quality feed.

Brown adipose tissue is a specialized fat store that when metabolized by the newborn lamb, assists the lamb to adapt to the cold challenge of the extrauterine environment and to avoid hypothermia (195). Hypothermia is a major cause of on-farm lamb losses in the first few days of life (196). There is a rapid increase in the mass of BAT from 70 to 120 days gestation followed by a decline in deposition to term (147 days; (197)), at which stage BAT represents around 80 percent of all adipose tissue in the newborn lamb. Although BAT only accounts for 2 percent of birth weight, 50 percent of the heat generated in newborn lambs comes from BAT metabolism for non-shivering thermogenesis (198, 199). Both the mass and metabolic activity of BAT is important for thermoregulation in the first few days of life, and thus modulation of these factors has the potential to improve neonatal thermogenesis and survival.

Maternal L-arginine supplementation during mid to late gestation increases BAT stores of fetuses carried by underfed (200), diet-induced obese (201) or well-fed ewes (77). The effect of maternal L-arginine supplementation on BAT mass of the late-gestation fetus is associated with an increase in adipocyte hypertrophy but not hyperplasia, and expression of the thermogenic genes UCP-1 and PRDM16, with elevated cortisol potentially regulating the expression of UCP-1 (202). This observed increase in BAT mass and metabolic activity was associated with an increase in the rectal temperatures of the lambs within 2 hours of birth, consistent with increased metabolic activity (202). Rapid up-regulation of genes such as UCP-1 around birth (203)

generates heat through uncoupling of ATP synthesis from the oxidative process (204) mediating in part the development of BAT and onset of BAT thermogenesis. This process is intricately coordinated with a series of endocrine changes (205, 206). These results illustrate the potential for maternal arginine supplementation to enhance thermoregulatory ability in the neonate but studies to evaluate the potential of such approaches to improve lamb survival on-farm have yet to be undertaken.

7. SUPPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES – CONSTRAINTS AND OPPORTUNITIES

Unprotected AAs can be added directly to the diets of pre-ruminant lambs to balance for nutritional deficiencies or as a nutraceutical to improve performance; however at the onset of rumen development microbial proteases and deaminases rapidly degrade AAs, which are soluble in the rumen liquid phase (207). An approach used by researchers to prevent rumen degradation of AAs is to administer AAs parentally, (75-77), or by-passing the rumen by direct administration into the abomasum (120, 208). Both methods do not require complex or expensive encapsulation to protect the AA and researchers are able to assess the direct effect of an AA or groups of AAs on ovine performance. Parenteral administration has the added advantages of permitting researchers to control how much AA enters circulation and where, the last point is important for in utero studies where AA can be infused directly into the fetal circulation, bypassing metabolism by the placenta. However, the primary limitation with parenteral and direct abomasal infusions is that they are impractical for use in production systems, therefore AAs that are resistant to degradation by the rumen have been developed.

The most widely-applied methods are the use of encapsulated AAs or AA analogues, which have been used to assess the effect of supplemental AA on ovine lactation (160), wool growth (120) and neonatal growth (119). Protected AAs are less susceptible to rumen degradation but are still available for intestinal absorption. There are several potential advantages to using rumen protected AA (RPAA) in ovine diets: A small amount of RPAA, containing a single or group of AAs, can be used to replace traditional supplemental protein feeds that were used to compensate for dietary AA inadequacies, making the supplementation more specific and reducing costs for industry and research. This leads to increased flexibility in the formulation of diets and enables components like energy density and fat content to be further optimised for different stages of growth or lactation. Ideally, RPAAs should be stable when pelleted and when incorporated into silage-based total mixed rations in which the pH can be as low as 3.6. (within the pH range of the abomasum where they would be degraded). Also, RPAAs should be certified as safe by the relevant regulatory authorities. One of the first studies in ruminants to develop RPAAs was conducted by Amos and Evans (209), who encapsulated methionine and lysine in polymerised urea and formaldehyde. Whilst Amos and Evans (209) were able to increase abomasal availability, plasma levels did not increase. In addition, the AA content of each product was quite low, RP-lysine had between 29.9. and 31.2. percent and RP-methionine 38.0.4 percent. Another method for the production of polymer encapsulated RPAA was patented by Dannelly (210). Dannelly (210) combined methionine or lysine with zein, non-water-soluble polymers or fatty acids and optional plasticizing agents such as triacetin or propylene glycol (210). Wright and Loerch (211) used this method to successfully increase plasma methionine concentrations, but no effect was observed on dry matter intake, fibre and nitrogen digestibility's and nitrogen retention in Dorset-sired crossbred wether lambs. Polymer formulations have been improved over time and there are now commercial products available for ruminants such as Smartamine M® (70 percent methionine) and ML® (15 percent methionine, 50 percent lysine). Another RPAA product, Mepron M85® is coated with compounds that are not pH-sensitive, which are resistant to ruminal, but not intestinal digestion. To date, only Smartamine M® has been utilized in sheep with mixed results (160, 212).

The complexity, costs of development and application of encapsulated AAs has led researchers to investigate the use of AA analogues as substitutes. Like encapsulated AAs, AA analogues are resistant to degradation by the rumen, however, unlike encapsulated AAs the free AA is not released and absorbed by the abomasum. Analogues of AA are absorbed intact by the abomasum and processed by distal tissues to yield the required free AA (213). Methionine and lysine have been the focus of many ovine studies and several AA analogues have been tested for their ability to increase plasma concentrations and regulate ovine phenotypes (213, 214). Methoxinine (O-methyl-DL-homoserine) has been used to study wool composition (214), 2-hydroxy-4-methylthiobutanoic acid (HMTBA) has been used for methionine absorption studies in Suffolk cross lambs (213), and, maleyl-methionine and d-2-methyl-maleyl methionine have been utilized to assess the effect of methionine on nitrogen retention and wool growth in Merino weathers (120). A commercial methionine analogue is available under the brand name Megalac-Plus®, which contains 13 g of methionine hydroxy analog with 450 g of Megalac® (calcium salts of long chain fatty acids), and others include Alimet® and Rhodimet®. To date, these have not been used in ovine studies. Hydroxymethyl lysine (HML) a synthetic lysine analogue has been tested in Suffolk ewes and shown to linearly increase plasma lysine concentrations (215). Analogues of leucine have also been utilized to study their effect on ovine immune function (180). Alphaketoisocaproate was shown to enhance immune function whilst isovalerate depressed immune function (180).

Improving the growth performance of lambs has the potential for eco-efficiency gains. For example, in hard hill country extensive sheep farms in New Zealand, there have been significant productivity gains through increased meat production in the last 10-15 years (181). Such gains include a 47 percent increase in saleable product per hectare, 21 percent reduction in nitrate leaching per kg of saleable product and a reduction of 40% in greenhouse gas emissions per kg of saleable product. While these gains in eco-efficiency were not observed on easy hill finishing operations, these observations highlight the potential to reduce the environmental impact of sheep farming through increased animal performance. Therefore, the ability to improve animal performance through AA supplementation offers the tantalizing opportunity to deliver eco-efficiency gains, however such gains remain to be investigated. With the increased focus on sustainable farming practices and reducing the impact on the environment, new approaches to improve animal performance coupled with eco-efficiency gains are becoming increasingly important for the livestock sector.

8. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

Traditional ovine studies have provided a wealth of data on the transport and metabolism of AA by several keys organs. However, the application of this knowledge has been limited by the theory that AAs are solely a limiting component in the diet. Amino acids have been shown to participate in a wide range of functional roles beyond their use as a dietary precursor required for the synthesis of protein, glucose and other cellular metabolites, roles that may have the potential to improve ovine growth and health. Recent studies indicate that AAs and their analogues can act as pharmacological agents to improve production outcomes in sheep. Particular focus has been paid to arginine and BCAA. whose administration has been shown to improve reproductive function, muscle growth, mammary gland development, immune function and fetal development and survival. Although a number of biochemical and molecular mechanisms have been proposed to explain roles for arginine and BCAA in improving ovine growth and health, direct experimental evidence is needed to support these propositions. There is a significant gap in our knowledge about the potential use of AAs as pharmacological agents to improve production and health in sheep. This gap provides current and future researchers with an opportunity to develop new knowledge about AA biochemistry and physiology to aid in the design of nutritional interventions to help improve ovine production performance.

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All authors contributed equally to this article. The authors acknowledge AgResearch core-funding for financial support for preparation of this review. The

authors also gratefully acknowledge critical review of this manuscript by Drs Ajmal Khan, Adrian Molenaar and David Pacheco.

10. REFERENCES

- Beef Lamb: Lamb crop 2013, December. In, New Zealand (2013)
- MPI: Situation and Outlook for Primary 2. Industries in http://www.mpi.govt.nz (2013)
- K Demmers, B Smaill, G Davis, K Dodds, J 3. Juengel: Heterozygous Inverdale ewes show increased ovulation rate sensitivity to premating nutrition. Reprod Fertil Dev, 23(7), 866-875 (2011)

DOI: 10.1071/RD10344

PR Shorten, AR O'Connell, KJ Demmers, SJ Edwards, NG Cullen, JL Juengel: Effect of age, weight, and sire on embryo and fetal survival in sheep. J Anim Sci, 91(10), 4641-4653 (2013)

DOI: 10.2527/jas.2013-6415

- PR Amer, JC McEwan, KG Dodds, GH Davis: Economic values for ewe prolificacy and lamb survival in New Zealand sheep. Livest Prod Sci, 58(1), 75-90 (1999) DOI: 10.1016/S0301-6226(98)00192-4
- SG Schoenian, PJ Burfening: Ovulation rate, lambing rate, litter size and embryo survival of Rambouillet sheep selected for high and low reproductive rate. J Anim Sci, 68,

2263-2270 (1990)

ST Morris, PR Kenyon: The effect of litter size and sward height on ewe and lamb performance. New Zeal J Agr Res, 47(3), 275-286 (2004)

DOI: 10.1080/00288233.2004.9513596

JM Everett-Hincks, HT Blair, KJ Stafford, N Lopez-Villalobos, PR Kenyon, ST Morris: The effect of pasture allowance during pregnancy on maternal behaviour and lamb rearing performance in highly fecund ewes. Livest Prod Sci. 97, 253-266 (2005)

DOI: 10.1016/j.livprodsci.2005.05.006

- E Gootwine, TE Spencer, FW Bazer: Littersize-dependent intrauterine growth restriction in sheep. Animal, 1, 547-564 (2007) DOI: 10.1017/S1751731107691897
- 10. C Rehfeldt, M Te Pas, K Wimmers, J Brameld, P Nissen, C Berri, L Valente, D Power, B

- Picard, N Stickland: Advances in research on the prenatal development of skeletal muscle in animals in relation to the quality of muscle-based food. II-Genetic factors related to animal performance and advances in methodology. Animal, 5(5), 718-730 (2011) DOI: 10.1017/S1751731110002454
- 11. G Wu, FW Bazer, JM Wallace, TE Spencer: Board-invited review: intrauterine growth retardation: implications for the animal sciences. J Anim Sci, 84(9), 2316-37 (2006) DOI: 10.2527/jas.2006-156
- 12. F Galli: Amino acid and protein modification by oxygen and nitrogen species. Amino Acids, 32(4), 497-499 (2007) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-006-0467-y
- 13. MAGrillo, SColombatto: S-adenosylmethionine and radical-based catalysis. Amino Acids, 32(2), 197-202 (2007) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-006-0342-x
- 14. P Li, YL Yin, D Li, SW Kim, G Wu: Amino acids and immune function. Br J Nutr, 98, 237-252 (2007) DOI: 10.1017/S000711450769936X
- 15. Y Sugita, K Takao, Y Toyama, A Shirahata: Enhancement of intestinal absorption of macromolecules by spermine in rats. Amino Acids, 33(2), 253-260 (2007) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-007-0532-1
- 16. WS Jobgen, SK Fried, WJ Fu, CJ Meininger, G Wu: Regulatory role for the arginine-nitric oxide pathway in metabolism of energy substrates. J Nutr Biochem, 17(9), 571-588 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2005.12.001
- 17. E Kim, A Magen, G Ast: Different levels of alternative splicing among eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Res, 35(1), 125-131 (2007) DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkl924
- 18. G Wu, FW Bazer, Z Dai, D Li, J Wang, Z Wu: Amino acid nutrition in animals: protein synthesis and beyond. Ann Rev Anim Biosci, 2(1), 387-417 (2014) DOI: 10.1146/annurev-animal-022513-114113
- 19. G Wu, F Bazer, T Davis, L Jaeger, G Johnson, S Kim, D Knabe, C Meininger, T Spencer, Y Yin: Important roles for the arginine family of amino acids in swine nutrition and production. Livest Sci, 112(1-2), 8-22 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.livsci.2007.07.003
- 20. W Wang, S Qiao, D Li: Amino acids and gut

- function. Amino Acids, 37(1), 105-110 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-008-0152-4
- 21. G. Wu: Amino acids: metabolism, functions, and nutrition. *Amino Acids*, 37(1), 1-17 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-009-0269-0
- 22. G Wu, FW Bazer, MC Satterfield, X Li, X Wang, GA Johnson, RC Burghardt, Z Dai, J Wang, Z Wu: Impacts of arginine nutrition on embryonic and fetal development in mammals. Amino Acids, 1-16 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-013-1515-z
- 23. R Mateo, G Wu, H Moon, J Carroll, S Kim: Effects of dietary arginine supplementation during gestation and lactation on the performance of lactating primiparous sows and nursing piglets. J Anim Sci, 86(4), 827-835 (2008)

DOI: 10.2527/jas.2007-0371

- 24. SW Kim, G Wu: Regulatory role for amino acids in mammary gland growth and milk synthesis. Amino Acids, 37(1), 89-95 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-008-0151-5
- 25. G Martin, J Milton, R Davidson, GB Hunzicker, D Lindsay, D Blache: Natural methods for increasing reproductive efficiency in small ruminants. Anim Reprod Sci, 82, 231-245 (2004)

DOI: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2004.05.014

- 26. G Martin, D Blache, D Miller, P Vercoe: Interactions between nutrition and reproduction in the management of the mature male ruminant. Animal, 4(07), 1214-1226 (2010) DOI: 10.1017/S1751731109991674
- 27. A Bielli, R Pérez, G Pedrana, JT Milton, Á Lopez, MA Blackberry, G Duncombe, H Rodriguez-Martinez, GB Martin: Low maternal nutrition during pregnancy reduces the number of Sertoli cells in the newborn lamb. Reprod Fertil Dev, 14(6), 333-337 (2002) DOI: 10.1071/RD02046
- 28. P Da Silva, R Aitken, S Rhind, P Racey, J Wallace: Influence of placentally mediated fetal growth restriction on the onset of puberty in male and female lambs. Reproduction, 122(3), 375-383 (2001) DOI: 10.1530/rep.0.1220375
- LE Holt, AA Albanese: Observations on amino acid deficiencies in man. Trans Assoc Am Physicians, 58, 143-156 (1944)
- 30. G Wu, FW Bazer, TE Spencer, Y-L. Yin,

- SW Kim: New developments in amino acid research. Anim Prod Anim Sci Worldwide, 299 (2007)
- 31. G Wu, F Bazer, S Datta, G Johnson, P Li, M Satterfield, T Spencer: Proline metabolism in the conceptus: implications for fetal growth and development. Amino Acids, 35(4), 691-702 (2008)

DOI: 10.1007/s00726-008-0052-7

32. G Wu, F Bazer, T Davis, S Kim, P Li, JM Rhoads, MC Satterfield, S Smith, T Spencer, Y Yin: Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health and disease. Amino Acids, 37(1), 153-168 (2009)

DOI: 10.1007/s00726-008-0210-y

33. H Hassanpour, P Mirshokrai, A Shirazi, A Aminian: Effect of nitric oxide on ram sperm motility in vitro. Pak J Biol Sci, 10(14), 2374-2378 (2007)

DOI: 10.3923/pjbs.2007.2374.2378

- 34. RJ Scaramuzzi, BK Campbell, JA Downing, NR Kendall, M Khalid, M Mu-oz-Gutiérrez, A Somchit: A review of the effects of supplementary nutrition in the ewe on the concentrations of reproductive and metabolic hormones and the mechanisms that regulate folliculogenesis and ovulation rate. Reprod Nutr Dev, 46(4), 339-354 (2006) DOI: 10.1051/rnd:2006016
- 35. J Downing, J Joss, R Scaramuzzi: A mixture of the branched chain amino acids leucine, isoleucine and valine increases ovulation rate in ewes when infused during the late luteal phase of the oestrous cycle: an effect that may be mediated by insulin. J Endocrinol, 145(2), 315-323 (1995) DOI: 10.1677/joe.0.1450315
- 36. FM Al-Dabbas, AH Hamra, FT Awawdeh: The effect of arginine supplementation on some blood parameters, ovulation rate and concentrations of estrogen and progesterone in female Awassi sheep. Pak J Biol Sci, 11(20), 2389-2394 (2008) DOI: 10.3923/pjbs.2008.2389.2394
- 37. C Saevre, J Caton, J Luther, A Meyer, D Dhuyvetter, R Musser, J Kirsch, M Kapphahn, D Redmer, C Schauer: Effects of rumenprotected arginine supplementation on ewe serum-amino-acid concentration, circulating progesterone, and ovarian blood flow. Sheep & Goat Res J, 26, 8-12 (2011)

- 38. K Wang, J Zheng: Signaling regulation of fetoplacental angiogenesis. J Endocrinol, 212(3), 243-255 (2012) DOI: 10.1530/JOE-11-0296
- 39. LP Reynolds, PP Borowicz, JS Caton, KA Vonnahme, JS Luther, DS Buchanan, SA Hafez, AT Grazul-Bilska, DA Redmer: Uteroplacental vascular development and placental function: an update. Int J Dev Biol, 54(2), 355 (2010)

DOI: 10.1387/ijdb.082799lr

40. C Krebsa, L Longob, R Leiser: Term ovine placental vasculature: comparison of sea level and high altitude conditions by corrosion cast and histomorphometry. Placenta, 18(1), 43-51 (1997)

DOI: 10.1016/S0143-4004(97)90070-9

- 41. L Penninga, L Longo: Ovine placentome morphology: effect of high altitude, long-term hypoxia. *Placenta*, 19(2), 187-193 (1998) DOI: 10.1016/S0143-4004(98)90008-X
- 42. A Fowden, J Ward, F Wooding, A Forhead, M Constancia: Programming placental nutrient transport capacity. J Physiol, 572(1), 5-15 (2006)

DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.104141

- 43. JM Wallace, DA Bourke, RP Aitken, JS Milne, WW Hay: Placental glucose transport in growth-restricted pregnancies induced by overnourishing adolescent sheep. J Physiol, 547(1), 85-94 (2003) DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2002.023333
- 44. L Heasman, L Clarke, T Stephenson, M Symonds: The influence of maternal nutrient restriction in early to mid-pregnancy on placental and fetal development in sheep. Proc Nutr Soc, 58(2), 283-288 (1999) DOI: 10.1017/S0029665199000397
- 45. KVonnahme, BHess, MNijland, PNathanielsz, S Ford: Placentomal differentiation may compensate for maternal nutrient restriction in ewes adapted to harsh range conditions. J Anim Sci, 84(12), 3451-3459 (2006) DOI: 10.2527/jas.2006-132
- 46. DS van der Linden, Q Sciascia, F Sales, SA McCoard: Placental nutrient transport is affected by pregnancy rank in sheep. J Anim Sci, 91(2), 644-653 (2012) DOI: 10.2.527/jas.2012-5629
- 47. J Wang, Z Wu, D Li, N Li, SV Dindot, MC

- Satterfield, FW Bazer, G Wu: Nutrition, epigenetics, and metabolic syndrome. Antioxid Redox Signal, 17(2), 282-301 (2012) DOI: 10.1089/ars.2011.4381
- 48. AW Bell, JM Kennaugh, FC Battaglia, G Meschia: Uptake of amino acids and ammonia at mid-gestation by the fetal lamb. Q J Exp Physiol, 74(5), 635-643 (1989) DOI: 10.1113/expphysiol.1989.sp003316
- 49. G Wu, SM Morris Jr: Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem J, 336(Pt 1). 1-17 (1998) DOI: 10.1042/bj3360001
- 50. MW Stipanuk, M: Amino acid metabolism. In: Biochemical and physiological aspects of human nutrition. Ed S. M. (ed.). WB Saunders Company, Philadelphia (2000)
- 51. SP Ford: Control of blood flow to the gravid uterus of domestic livestock species. J Anim Sci, 73(6), 1852-1860 (1995)
- 52. R Bajoria, SR Sooranna, S Ward, S D'Souza, M Hancock: Placental transport rather than maternal concentration of amino acids regulates fetal growth in monochorionic twins: implications for fetal origin hypothesis. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 185(5), 1239-1246 (2001) DOI: 10.1067/mob.2001.118269
- 53. AW Bell, RA Ehrhardt: Regulation of placental nutrient transport and implications for fetal growth. Nutr Res Rev, 15(02), 211-230 (2002) DOI: 10.1079/NRR200239
- 54. I Cetin, C Corbetta, LP Sereni, AM Marconi, P Bozzetti, G Pardi, FC Battaglia: Umbilical amino acid concentrations in normal and growth-retarded fetuses sampled in utero by cordocentesis. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 162(1), 253-261 (1990) DOI: 10.1016/0002-9378(90)90860-A
- 55. H Kwon, TE Spencer, FW Bazer, G Wu: Developmental changes of amino acids in ovine fetal fluids. Biol Reprod, 68(5), 1813-1820 (2003) DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.102.012971
- 56. H Kwon, G Wu, CJ Meininger, FW Bazer, TE Spencer: Developmental changes in nitric oxide synthesis in the ovine placenta. Biol Reprod. 70(3), 679-686 (2004) DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.023184
- 57. JA Lemons, EA Adcock, MD Jones, MA Naughton, G Meschia, FC Battaglia: Umbilical

uptake of amino acids in the unstressed fetal lamb. J Clin Invest, 58(December), 1428-1434 (1976)

DOI: 10.1172/JCI108598

- 58. AM Marconi, FC Battaglia, G Meschia, JW Sparks: A comparison of amino acid arteriovenous differences across the liver and placenta of the fetal lamb. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 257(6), E909-E915 (1989)
- 59. TRH Regnault, JE Friedman, RB Wilkening, RV Anthony, JWW Hay: Fetoplacental transport and utilization of amino acids in IUGR -- a review. Placenta, 26(Supplement 1), S52-S62 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.01.003
- 60. C Smith, A Moe, V Ganapathy: Nutrient transport pathways across the epithelium of the placenta. Annu Rev Nutr, 12(1), 183-206 (1992) DOI: 10.1146/annurev.nu.12.070192.001151
- 61. CJ Ashworth, CM Dwyer, K McIlvaney, M Werkman, JA Rooke: Breed differences in fetal and placental development and fetomaternal amino acid status following nutrient restriction during early and mid pregnancy in Scottish Blackface and Suffolk sheep. Reprod Fertil Dev. 23(8), 1024-1033 (2011) DOI: 10.1071/RD10290
- 62. F Battaglia: In vivo characteristics of placental amino acid transport and metabolism in ovine pregnancy—a review. Placenta, 23, S3-S8 (2002) DOI: 10.1053/plac.2002.0812
- 63. F Battaglia, T Regnault: Placental transport and metabolism of amino acids. Placenta, 22(2-3), 145-161 (2001) DOI: 10.1053/plac.2000.0612
- 64. FC Battaglia: New concepts in fetal and placental amino acid metabolism. J Anim Sci, 70(10), 3258-3263 (1992)
- 65. I Cetin, PV Fennessey, AN Quick, AM Marconi, G Meschia, FC Battaglia, JW Sparks: Glycine turnover and oxidation and hepatic serine synthesis from glycine in fetal lambs. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 260(3), E371-E378 (1991)
- 66. M Chung, C Teng, M Timmerman, G Meschia, FC Battaglia: Production and utilization of amino acids by ovine placenta in vivo. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 274(1), E13-22 (1998)

- 67. I Holzman, J Lemons, G Meschia, F Battaglia: Uterine uptake of amino acids and placental glutamine-glutamate balance in the pregnant ewe. J Dev Physiol, 1(2), 137-149 (1979)
- 68. FC Battaglia: Glutamine and glutamate exchange between the fetal liver and the placenta. J Nutr, 130(4S Suppl), 974S-977S (2000)
- 69. RR Moores, CT Christine, FCB Rietberg, PV Fennessey, G Meschia: Metabolism and transport of maternal serine by the ovine placenta: glycine production and absence of serine transport into the fetus. Pediatr Res. 33(6), 590-594 (1993)

DOI: 10.1203/00006450-199306000-00012

- 70. H Kwon, SP Ford, FW Bazer, TE Spencer, PW Nathanielsz, MJ Nijland, BW Hess, G Wu: Maternal nutrient restriction reduces concentrations of amino acids and polyamines in ovine maternal and fetal plasma and fetal fluids. Biol Reprod, 71(3), 901-908 (2004) DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.104.029645
- 71. MC Satterfield, FW Bazer, TE Spencer, G Wu: Sildenafil citrate treatment enhances amino acid availability in the conceptus and fetal growth in an ovine model of intrauterine growth restriction. J Nutr, 140(2), 251-258 (2010) DOI: 10.3945/jn.109.114678
- 72. WS Jobgen, SP Ford, SC Jobgen, CP Feng, BW Hess, PW Nathanielsz, P Li, G Wu: Baggs ewes adapt to maternal undernutrition and maintain conceptus growth by maintaining fetal plasma concentrations of amino acids. J Anim Sci, 86(4), 820-826 (2008) DOI: 10.2527/jas.2007-0624
- 73. M Józwik, C Teng, FC Battaglia, G Meschia: Fetal supply of amino acids and amino nitrogen after maternal infusion of amino acids in pregnant sheep. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 180(2), 447-453 (1999) DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70230-9
- 74. PJ Thureen, SM Anderson, WW Hay, Jr.: Regulation of uterine and umbilical amino acid uptakes by maternal amino acid concentrations. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 279(3), R849-859 (2000)
- 75. A Lassala, FW Bazer, TA Cudd, S Datta, DH Keisler, MC Satterfield, TE Spencer, G Wu: Parenteral administration of I-arginine prevents fetal growth restriction in undernourished ewes. J Nutr, 140(7), 1242-1248 (2010)

DOI: 10.3945/jn.110.125658

76. A Lassala, FW Bazer, TA Cudd, S Datta, DH Keisler, MC Satterfield, TE Spencer, G Wu: Parenteral administration of L-arginine enhances fetal survival and growth in sheep carrying multiple fetuses. J Nutr. 141(5). 849-855 (2011)

DOI: 10.3945/jn.111.138172

77. S McCoard, F Sales, N Wards, Q Sciascia, M Oliver, J Koolaard, D van der Linden: Parenteral administration of twin-bearing ewes with L-arginine enhances the birth weight and brown fat stores in sheep. SpringerPlus, 2(1), 684 (2013)

DOI: 10.1186/2193-1801-2-684

78. HA De Boo, PL Van Zijl, DC Smith, W Kulik, HN Lafeber, JE Harding: Arginine and mixed amino acids increase protein accretion in the growth-restricted and normal ovine fetus by different mechanisms. Pediatr Res. 58(2), 270-277 (2005)

DOI: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000169977.48609.55

- 79. EA Liechty, DW Boyle, H Moorehead, L Auble, SC Denne: Aromatic amino acids are utilized and protein synthesis is stimulated during amino acid infusion in the ovine fetus. J Nutr, 129(6), 1161-1166 (1999)
- 80. A Fowden, M Ralph, M Silver: Nutritional regulation of uteroplacental prostaglandin production and metabolism in pregnant ewes and mares during late gestation. Exp Clin Endocrinol, 102(3), 212-221 (1994) DOI: 10.1055/s-0029-1211285
- 81. FH Bloomfield, PL van Zijl, MK Bauer, JE Harding: Effects of intrauterine growth restriction and intraamniotic insulin-like growth factor-I treatment on blood and amniotic fluid concentrations and on fetal gut uptake of amino acids in late-gestation ovine fetuses. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 35(3), 287-297 (2002)

DOI: 10.1097/00005176-200209000-00010

82. H Gao, G Wu, TE Spencer, GA Johnson, FW Bazer: Select nutrients in the ovine uterine lumen. III. Cationic amino acid transporters in the ovine uterus and periimplantation conceptuses. Biol Reprod, 80(3), 602-609 (2009)

DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.073890

83. K Gao, Z Jiang, Y Lin, C Zheng, G Zhou, F Chen, L Yang, G Wu: Dietary L-arginine

- supplementation enhances placental growth and reproductive performance in sows. Amino acids, 42(6), 2207-2214 (2012)
- DOI: 10.1007/s00726-011-0960-9
- 84. X Wang, JW Frank, DR Little, KA Dunlap, MC Satterfield, RC Burghardt, TR Hansen, G Wu, FW Bazer: Functional role of arginine during the peri-implantation period of pregnancy. I. Consequences of loss of function of arginine transporter SLC7A1 mRNA in ovine conceptus trophectoderm. FASEB J, 28(7), 2852-2863 (2014)

DOI: 10.1096/fj.13-248757

- 85. S McCoard, W McNabb, S Peterson, S McCutcheon, P Harris: Muscle growth, cell number, type and morphometry in single and twin fetal lambs during mid to late gestation. Reprod Fertil Dev. 12, 319-327 (2000) DOI: 10.1071/RD99059
- 86. MC Satterfield, KA Dunlap, DH Keisler, FW Bazer, G Wu: Arginine nutrition and fetal brown adipose tissue development in nutrient-restricted sheep. Amino Acids, 45(3), 489-499 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s00726-011-1168-8

- 87. SL Davis: Plasma levels of prolactin, growth hormone, and insulin in sheep following the infusion of arginine, leucine and phenylalanine. Endocrinol, 91(2), 549-555 (1972) DOI: 10.1210/endo-91-2-549
- 88. F Hertelendy, K Takahashi, L Machlin, D Kipnis: Growth hormone and insulin secretory responses to arginine in the sheep, pig, and cow. Gen Comp Endocrinol, 14(1), 72-77 (1970)

DOI: 10.1016/0016-6480(70)90008-0

89. CB Gow, S Ranawana, R Kellaway, G McDowell: Responses to post-ruminal infusions of casein and arginine, and to dietary protein supplements in lactating goats. Br J Nutr. 41(02), 371-382 (1979)

DOI: 10.1079/BJN19790046

- 90. J Oldham, I Hart, J Bines: Effect of abomasal infusions of casein, arginine, methionine or phenylalanine on growth hormone, insulin, prolactin, thyroxine and some metabolites in blood from lactating goats. Proc Nutr Soc, 37(1), 9A-9A (1978)
- 91. J Vicini, J Clark, W Hurley, J Bahr: Effects of abomasal or intravenous administration of arginine on milk production, milk composition,

- and concentrations of somatotropin and insulin in plasma of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci, 71(3), 658-665 (1988)
- DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(88)79604-6
- 92. G Davenport, J Boling, K Schillo, D Aaron: Nitrogen metabolism and somatotropin secretion in lambs receiving arginine and. J Anim Sci, 68, 222-232 (1990)
- 93. GM Davenport, JA Boling, KK Schillo, DK Aaron: Nitrogen metabolism and somatotropin secretion in lambs receiving arginine and ornithine via abomasal infusion. J Anim Sci. 68(1), 222-32 (1990)
- 94. GM Davenport, JA Boling, KK Schillo: Growth and endocrine responses of lambs fed rumenprotected ornithine and arginine. Small Rumin Res. 17(3), 229-236 (1995) DOI: 10.1.016/0921-4488(95)00685-e
- 95. F Sales: Amino acids and skeletal muscle growth in lambs: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Animal Science at Massey University, Palmerston North, New

Zealand. In: The Author, (2014)

- 96. TA Davis, HV Nguyen, R Garcia-Bravo, ML Fiorotto, EM Jackson, PJ Reeds: Amino acid composition of the milk of some mammalian species changes with stage of lactation. Br J Nutr. 72(06), 845-853 (1994) DOI: 10.1079/BJN19940089
- 97. VR Young, AM Aiami: Glutamine: the emperor or his clothes? J Nutr, 131(9), 2449S-2459S (2001)
- 98. OB Sawant, G Wu, SE Washburn: Maternal I-glutamine supplementation prevents prenatal alcohol exposure-induced fetal growth restriction in an ovine model. Amino Acids, 1-10 (2015)
 - DOI: 10.1007/s00726-015-1945-x
- 99. Y Zhou, P Zhang, G Deng, X Liu, D Lu: Improvements of immune status, intestinal integrity and gain performance in the earlyweaned calves parenterally supplemented with L-alanyl-L-glutamine dipeptide. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 145(1), 134-142 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2011.10.020
- 100. J Drackley, R Blome, K Bartlett, K Bailey: Supplementation of 1% L-glutamine to milk replacer does not overcome the growth depression in calves caused by

- soy protein concentrate. J Dairy Sci, 89(5), 1688-1693 (2006)
- DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72236-6
- 101. A Beaulieu, T Overton., Drackley: Substrate oxidation by isolated ovine enterocytes is increased by phlorizin-induced glucosuria. Can J Anim Sci, 81(4), 585-588 (2001) DOI: 10.4141/A01-032
- 102. EK Okine, DR Glimm, JR Thompson, JJ Kennelly: Influence of stage of lactation on glucose and glutamine metabolism in isolated enterocytes from dairy cattle. Metabolism, 44(3), 325-331 (1995) DOI: 10.1016/0026-0495(95)90162-0
- 103. PJ Reeds, DG Burrin: Glutamine and the bowel. J Nutr, 131(9), 2505S-2508S (2001)
- 104. PJ Rozance, MM Crispo, JS Barry, MC O'Meara, MS Frost, KC Hansen, WW Hay, LD Brown: Prolonged maternal amino acid infusion in late-gestation pregnant sheep increases fetal amino acid oxidation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 297(3), E638-E646 (2009)
 - DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00192.2009
- 105. LD Brown, AS Green, SW Limesand, ΡJ Rozance: Maternal amino supplementation for intrauterine growth restriction. Front Biosci (Schol Ed), 3, 428 (2011)
 - DOI: 10.2741/s162
- 106. SW Limesand, PJ Rozance, D Smith, WW Hay: Increased insulin sensitivity and maintenance of glucose utilization rates in fetal sheep with placental insufficiency and intrauterine growth restriction. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 293(6), E1716-E1725 (2007) DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00459.2007
- 107. SR Thorn, TR Regnault, LD Brown, PJ Rozance, J Keng, M Roper, RB Wilkening, WW Hay Jr, JE Friedman: Intrauterine growth restriction increases fetal hepatic aluconeogenic capacity and reduces messenger ribonucleic acid translation initiation and nutrient sensing in fetal liver and skeletal muscle. Endocrinol, 150(7), 3021-3030 (2009)
 - DOI: 10.1210/en.2008-1789
- 108. JM Wallace, JS Milne, RP Aitken, WW Hay: Sensitivity to metabolic signals in late-gestation growth-restricted fetuses from rapidly growing adolescent sheep. Am J Physiol Endocrinol

- Metab, 293(5), E1233-E1241 (2007) DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00294.2007
- 109. KM Aagaard-Tillery, K Grove, J Bishop, X Ke, Q Fu, R McKnight, RH Lane: Developmental origins of disease and determinants of chromatin structure: maternal diet modifies the primate fetal epigenome. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 41(2), 91-102 (2008) DOI: 10.1677/JME-08-0025
- 110. Q Fu, RA McKnight, X Yu, CW Callaway, RH Lane: Growth retardation alters the epigenetic characteristics of hepatic dual specificity phosphatase 5. FASEB J, 20(12), 2127-2129 (2006) DOI: 10.1096/fj.06-6179fje
- 111. KA Lillycrop, JL Slater-Jefferies, MA Hanson, KM Godfrey, AA Jackson, GC Burdge: Induction of altered epigenetic regulation of the hepatic glucocorticoid receptor in the offspring of rats fed a protein-restricted diet during pregnancy suggests that reduced DNA methyltransferase-1 expression is involved in impaired DNA methylation and changes in histone modifications. *Br J Nutr*, 97(06), 1064-1073 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1017/S000711450769196X
- 112. S Campbell, M Siegel, BJ Knowlton: Sheep immunoglobulins and their transmission to the neonatal lamb. New Zeal Vet J, 25(12), 361-365 (1977)
 DOI: 10.1080/00480169.1977.34458
- 113. S Tzipori, D Sherwood, K Angus, I Campbell, M Gordon: Diarrhea in lambs: experimental infections with enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli, rotavirus, and Cryptosporidium sp. *Infect Immun*, 33(2), 401-406 (1981)
- 114. A Sevi, S Massa, G Annicchiarico, S Dell'Aguila, A Muscio: Effect of stocking density on ewes' milk yield, udder health and microenvironment. J Dairy Res, 66(04), 489-499 (1999)
 DOI: 10.1017/S0022029999003726
- 115. GA Ward: Effect of pre-weaning diet on lamb's rumen development. *Am Eurasian J Agric Environ Sci*, 3(4), 561-567 (2008)
- 116. D Harrison, D Beever, D Thomson, D Osbourn: The influence of diet upon the quantity and types of amino acids entering and leaving the small intestine of sheep. *J Agric Sci*, 81(03), 391-401 (1973)

 DOI: 10.1017/S0021859600086421

- 117. M Tatara, A Brodzki, K Pasternak, M. Szpetnar, P Rosenbeiger, B Tymczyna, D Niedziela, W Krupski: Changes of amino acid concentrations in Polish Merino sheep between 21 and 150 days of life. Vet Med (Praha), 59(2), 68-75 (2014)
- 118. E Storm, E Orskov: The nutritive value of rumen micro-organisms in ruminants. 4. The limiting amino acids of microbial protein in growing sheep determined by a new approach. *Br J Nutr*, 52(3), 613-620 (1984)
- 119. G Lynch, T Elsasser, C Jackson, T Rumsey, M Camp: Nitrogen metabolism of lactating ewes fed rumen-protected methionine and lysine. J Dairy Sci, 74(7), 2268-2276 (1991) DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78399-9
- 120. J Coetzee, P De Wet, W Burger: Effects of infused methionine, lysine and rumenprotected methionine derivates on nitrogen retention and wool growth of Merino wethers. South African J Anim Sci (South Africa) (1995)
- 121. AJ Forhead, J Li, RS Gilmour, MJ Dauncey, AL Fowden: Thyroid hormones and the mRNA of the GH receptor and IGFs in skeletal muscle of fetal sheep. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 282(1), E80-86 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00284.2001
- 122. DL Hopkins, NM Fogarty: Diverse lamb genotypes--1. Yield of saleable cuts and meat in the carcass and the prediction of yield. *Meat Sci*, 49(4), 459-475 (1998)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0309-1740(98)00050-3
- 123. C Ashmore, D Robinson, P Rattray, L Doerr: Biphasic development of muscle fibers in the fetal lamb. *Exp Neurol*, 37(2), 241-255 (1972) DOI: 10.1016/0014-4886(72)90071-4
- 124. SJ Wilson, JC McEwan, PW Sheard, AJ Harris: Early stages of myogenesis in a large mammal: formation of successive generations of myotubes in sheep tibialis cranialis muscle. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*, 13(5), 534-50 (1992) DOI: 10.1007/BF01737996
- 125. P Greenwood, R Slepetis, A Bell, J Hermanson: Intrauterine growth retardation is associated with reduced cell cycle activity, but not myofibre number, in ovine fetal muscle. *Reprod Fertil Dev*, 11(5), 281-291 (1999) DOI: 10.1071/RD99054
- 126. C Rehfeldt, I Fiedler, G Dietl, K Ender: Myogenesis and postnatal skeletal muscle

- cell growth as influenced by selection. *Livest Prod Sci*, 66(2), 177-188 (2000)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0301-6226(00)00225-6
- 127. MJ Zhu, SP Ford, WJ Means, BW Hess, PW Nathanielsz, M Du: Maternal nutrient restriction affects properties of skeletal muscle in offspring. J Physiol, 575(Pt 1), 241-50 (2006) DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.112110
- 128. RB Wilkening, DW Boyle, C Teng, G Meschia, FC Battaglia: Amino acid uptake by the fetal ovine hindlimb under normal and euglycemic hyperinsulinemic states. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 266(1), E72-E78 (1994)
- 129. EA Liechty, JA Lemons: Changes in ovine fetal hindlimb amino acid metabolism during maternal fasting. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 246(5), E430-435 (1984)
- 130. E Liechty, S Barone, M Nutt: Effect of maternal fasting on ovine fetal and maternal branched-chain amino acid transaminase activities. *Neonatology*, 52(3), 166-173 (1987) DOI: 10.1159/000242706
- 131. EA Liechty, MJ.Polak, JA Lemons: Branchedchain amino acid carbon and nitrogen arteriovenous concentration differences across the ovine fetal hindlimb. *Pediatr Res*, 21(1), 44-48 (1987) DOI: 10.1203/00006450-198701000-00011
- 132. I Cetin: Amino acid interconversions in the fetal-placental unit: the animal model and human studies in vivo. *Pediatr Res*, 49(2), 148-154 (2001)

 DOI: 10.1203/00006450-200102000-00004
- 133. R Prior, R Christenson: Gluconeogenesis from alanine in vivo by the ovine fetus and lamb. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 233(6), G462-G468 (1977)
- 134. A Fahey, J Brameld, T Parr, P Buttery: The effect of maternal undernutrition before muscle differentiation on the muscle fiber development of the newborn lamb. *J Anim Sci*, 83(11), 2564-2571 (2005)
- 135. PM Costello, A Rowlerson, NA Astaman, FE Anthony, AA Sayer, C Cooper, MA Hanson, LR Green: Peri-implantation and late gestation maternal undernutrition differentially affect fetal sheep skeletal muscle development. *J Physiol*, 586(9), 2371-9 (2008)
- 136. F Sales, D Pacheco, H Blair, P Kenyon, S

- McCoard: Muscle free amino acid profiles are related to differences in skeletal muscle growth between single and twin ovine fetuses near term. *SpringerPlus*, 2(1), 1-9 (2013) DOI: 10.1186/2193-1801-2-483
- 137. SA McCoard, WC McNabb, MJ Birtles, PM Harris, SN McCutcheon, SW Peterson: Immunohistochemical detection of myogenic cells in muscles of fetal and neonatal lambs. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 169(1), 21-33 (2001) DOI: 10.1159/000047857
- 138. S Lewis, F Kelly, D Goldspink: Pre-and postnatal growth and protein turnover in smooth muscle, heart and slow-and fast-twitch skeletal muscles of the rat. *Biochem J*, 217, 517-526 (1984) DOI: 10.1042/bj2170517
- 139. LD Brown, WW Hay: Effect of hyperinsulinemia on amino acid utilization and oxidation independent of glucose metabolism in the ovine fetus. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 291(6), E1333-E1340 (2006) DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00028.2006
- 140. LD Brown, PJ Rozance, JS Barry, JE Friedman, WW Hay, Jr.: Insulin is required for amino acid stimulation of dual pathways for translational control in skeletal muscle in the late-gestation ovine fetus. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 296(1), E56-63 (2009) DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.90310.2008
- 141. Q Sciascia, D Pacheco, J Bracegirdle, C Berry, P Kenyon, H Blair, M Senna Salerno, G Nicholas, S McCoard: Brief Communication: Effects of restricted fetal nutrition in utero on mTOR signalling in ovine skeletal muscle. Proc NZ Soc Anim Prod, 70, 180-182 (2010)
- 142. MJ Zhu, SP Ford, PW Nathanielsz, M Du: Effect of maternal nutrient restriction in sheep on the development of fetal skeletal muscle. *Biol Reprod*, 71(6), 1968-73 (2004) DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.104.034561
- 143. MJ Zhu, B Han, J Tong, C Ma, JM Kimzey, KR Underwood, Y Xiao, BW Hess, SP Ford, PW Nathanielsz, M Du: AMP-activated protein kinase signalling pathways are down regulated and skeletal muscle development impaired in fetuses of obese, over-nourished sheep. *J Physiol*, 586(10), 2651-64 (2008) DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007.149633
- 144. K Hara, K Yonezawa, Q-P Weng, MT Kozlowski, C Belham, J Avruch: Amino Acid

Sufficiency and mTOR Regulate p70 S6 Kinase and eIF-4E BP1 through a Common Effector Mechanism. *J Biol Chem*, 273(23), 14484-14494 (1998)

DOI: 10.1074/jbc.273.23.14484

145. A Beugnet, AR Tee, PM Taylor, CG Proud: Regulation of targets of mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) signalling by intracellular amino acid availability. *Biochem J*, 372(Pt 2), 555-566 (2003)

DOI: 10.1042/bj20021266

- 146. M Connors, D Poppi, J Cant: Chronic improvement of amino acid nutrition stimulates initiation of global mRNA translation in tissues of sheep without affecting protein elongation. J Anim Sci, 88(2), 689-696 (2009) DOI: 10.2527/jas.2009-1901
- 147. F Sales, D Pacheco, H Blair, P Kenyon, G Nicholas, M Senna Salerno, S McCoard: Identification of amino acids associated with skeletal muscle growth in late gestation and at weaning in lambs of well-nourished sheep. *J Anim Sci*, 92(11), 5041-5052 (2014) DOI: 10.2527/jas.2014-7689
- 148. J Bérard, G Bee: Effects of dietary l-arginine supplementation to gilts during early gestation on foetal survival, growth and myofiber formation. *Animal*, 4(10), 1680-1687 (2010) DOI: 10.1017/S1751731110000881
- 149. M Du, MJ Zhu, WJ Means, BW Hess, SP Ford: Nutrient restriction differentially modulates the mammalian target of rapamycin signaling and the ubiquitin-proteasome system in skeletal muscle of cows and their fetuses. *J Anim Sci*, 83(1), 117-123 (2005)
- 150. A Louca, A Mavrogenis, M Lawlor: Effects of plane of nutrition in late pregnancy on lamb birth weight and milk yield in early lactation of Chios and Awassi sheep. *Anim Prod*, 19(03), 341-349 (1974)

 DOI: 10.1017/S0003356100022911
- 151. D van der Linden, P Kenyon, H Blair, N Lopez-Villalobos, C Jenkinson, S Peterson, D Mackenzie: Effects of ewe size and nutrition on fetal mammary gland development and lactational performance of offspring at their first lactation. *J Anim Sci*, 87(12), 3944-3954 (2009)

DOI: 10.2527/jas.2009-2125

152. T Treacher: Effects of nutrition in late pregnancy on subsequent milk production in

- ewes. *Anim Prod*, 12(01), 23-36 (1970) DOI: 10.1017/S0003356100028695
- 153. H Blair, C Jenkinson, S Peterson, P Kenyon, D van der Linden, L Davenport, D Mackenzie, S Morris, E Firth: Dam and granddam feeding during pregnancy in sheep affects milk supply in offspring and reproductive performance in grand-offspring. J Anim Sci, 88(13 Suppl), E40-50 (2010)

DOI: 10.2527/jas.2009-2523

- 154. QL Sciascia: Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) activation during ruminant mammary development and function: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Animal Science at Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand. In: The author, (2013)
- 155. M Gibb, T Treacher: The effect of herbage allowance on herbage intake and performance of ewes and their twin lambs grazing perennial ryegrass. *J Agric Sci*, 90(01), 139-147 (1978) DOI: 10.1017/S0021859600048681
- 156. S Davis, R Bickerstaffe, D Hart: Amino acid uptake by the mammary gland of the lactating ewe. *Aust J Biol Sci*, 31(2), 123-132 (1978)
- 157. B Bequette, F Backwell, L Crompton: Current concepts of amino acid and protein metabolism in the mammary gland of the lactating ruminant. *J Dairy Sci*, 81(9), 2540-2559 (1998)

 DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)70147-X
- 158. J Baldwin, G Horton, J Wohlt, D Palatini, S Emanuele: Rumen-protected methionine for lactation, wool and growth in sheep. *Small Rumin Res*, 12(2), 125-132 (1993) DOI: 10.1016/0921-4488(93)90077-U
- 159. A Sevi, T Rotunno, R Di Caterina, A Muscio: Rumen-protected methionine or lysine supplementation of Comisana ewes' diets: effects on milk fatty acid composition. *J Dairy Res*, 65(03), 413-422 (1998) DOI: 10.1017/S0022029998002945
- 160. C Goulas, G Zervas, G Papadopoulos: Effect of dietary animal fat and methionine on dairy ewes milk yield and milk composition. *Anim Feed Sci Technol*, 105(1), 43-54 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/S0377-8401(03)00048-8
- 161. JRN Appuhamy, NA Knoebel, WD Nayananjalie, J Escobar, MD Hanigan: Isoleucine and leucine independently regulate

- mTOR signaling and protein synthesis in MAC-T cells and bovine mammary tissue slices. *J Nutr*, 142(3), 484-491 (2012) DOI: 10.3945/jn.111.152595
- 162. P Nicklin, P Bergman, B Zhang, E Triantafellow, H Wang, B Nyfeler, H Yang, M Hild, C Kung, C Wilson, VE Myer, JP MacKeigan, JA Porter, YK Wang, LC Cantley, PM Finan, LO Murphy: Bidirectional transport of amino acids regulates mTOR and autophagy. *Cell*, 136(3), 521-534 (2009)

DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.11.044

163. B Chew, J Eisenman, T Tanaka: Arginine infusion stimulates prolactin, growth hormone, insulin, and subsequent lactation in pregnant dairy cows. J Dairy Sci, 67(11), 2507-2518 (1984)

DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(84)81607-0

164. A Lassala, FW Bazer, TA Cudd, P Li, X Li, MC Satterfield, TE Spencer, G Wu: Intravenous administration of L-citrulline to pregnant ewes is more effective than L-arginine for increasing arginine availability in the fetus. J Nutr, 139(4), 660-665 (2009)

DOI: 10.3945/jn.108.102020

165. B Chacher, H Liu, D Wang, J Liu: Potential role of N-carbamoyl glutamate in biosynthesis of arginine and its significance in production of ruminant animals. J Anim Sci Biotechnol, 4(1), 16 (2013)

DOI: 10.1186/2049-1891-4-16

- PPG Pastoret, P Bazin, H Govaerts A: Sheep immunology and goat peculiarities. Handbook of vertebrate immunology, 515 (1998)
- 167. W Smith, F Jackson, E Jackson, J Williams: Studies on the local immune response of the lactating ewe infected with Ostertagia circumcincta. *J Comp Pathol*, 93(2), 295-305 (1983)

DOI: 10.1016/0021-9975(83)90016-6

168. EN Meeusen, A Balic, V Bowles: Cells, cytokines and other molecules associated with rejection of gastrointestinal nematode parasites. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 108(1), 121-125 (2005)

DOI: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2005.07.002

169. A Alves, N Alves, I Ascari, F Junqueira, A Coutinho, R Lima, J Pérez, S De Paula, I Furusho-Garcia, L Abreu: Colostrum composition of Santa Inês sheep and passive transfer of immunity to lambs. J Dairy Sci

98(6), 3706-3716 (2015) DOI: 10.3168/jds.2014-7992

- 170. D Yanez-Ruiz, K Hart, A Martin-Garcia, S Ramos, C Newbold: Diet composition at weaning affects the rumen microbial population and methane emissions by lambs. *Anim Prod Sci*, 48(2), 186-188 (2008) DOI: 10.1071/EA07237
- 171. R Grogono-Thomas, M Blaser, M Ahmadi, D Newell: Role of S-layer protein antigenic diversity in the immune responses of sheep experimentally challenged with Campylobacter fetus subsp. fetus. *Infect Immun*, 71(1), 147-154 (2003) DOI: 10.1128/IAI.71.1.147-154.2003
- 172. M Van Houtert, I Barger, J Steel, R Windon, D Emery: Effects of dietary protein intake on responses of young sheep to infection with Trichostrongylus colubriformis. *Vet Parasitol*, 56(1), 163-180 (1995) DOI: 10.1016/0304-4017(94)00668-3
- 173. C Gonzalo, A Ariznabarreta, J Carriedo, F San Primitivo: Mammary pathogens and their relationship to somatic cell count and milk yield losses in dairy ewes. *J Dairy Sci*, 85(6), 1460-1467 (2002)
 DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74214-8
- 174. P Bricarello, A Amarante, R Rocha, S Cabral Filho, J Huntley, J Houdijk, A Abdalla, S Gennari: Influence of dietary protein supply on resistance to experimental infections with Haemonchus contortus in Ile de France and Santa Ines lambs. *Vet Parasitol*, 134(1), 99-109 (2005)

DOI: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.05.068

- 175. RLCoop, I Kyriazakis: Influence of host nutrition on the development and consequences of nematode parasitism in ruminants. *Trends Parasitol*, 17(7), 325-330 (2001) DOI: 10.1016/S1471-4922(01)01900-6
- 176. C Dobson, RJ Bawden: Studies on the immunity of sheep to Oesophagostomum columbianum: effects of low-protein diet on resistance to infection and cellular reactions in the gut. *Parasitology*, 69(02), 239-255 (1974) DOI: 10.1017/S0031182000048083
- 177. R Van Brummelen, D du Toit: L-methionine as immune supportive supplement: a clinical evaluation. *Amino Acids*, 33(1), 157-163 (2007)

DOI: 10.1007/s00726-006-0390-2

- 178. V Bronte, P Zanovello: Regulation of immune responses by L-arginine metabolism. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 5(8), 641-654 (2005) DOI: 10.1038/nri1668
- 179. G Kuhlman, JA Roth, PJ Flakoll, MJ Vandehaar, S Nissen: Effects of dietary leucine, alpha-ketoisocaproate and isovalerate on antibody production and lymphocyte blastogenesis in growing lambs. *J Nutr*, 118(12), 1564-1569 (1988)
- 180. S Nissen, G Kuhlman, JA Roth: Modulation of ovine lymphocyte function by leucine and leucine metabolites. In: *Amino Acids*. Springer, (1990) DOI: 10.1007/978-94-011-2262-7 98
- 181. G. Kuhlman, J. Roth and S. Nissen: Effects of alpha-ketoisocaproate on adrenocorticotropininduced suppression of lymphocyte function in sheep. Am J Vet Res, 52(3), 388-392 (1991)
- 182. M Paape, J Mehrzad, X Zhao, J Detilleux, C Burvenich: Defense of the bovine mammary gland by polymorphonuclear neutrophil leukocytes. J Mammary Gland Biol, 7(2), 109-121 (2002) DOI: 10.1023/A:1020343717817
- 183. V Boulanger, X Zhao, K Lauzon, P Lacasse: Effects of nitric oxide on bovine polymorphonuclear functions. *Can J Vet Res*, 71(1), 52 (2007)
- 184. J Bispham, G Gopalakrishnan, J Dandrea, V Wilson, H Budge, D Keisler, FB Pipkin, T Stephenson, M Symonds: Maternal endocrine adaptation throughout pregnancy to nutritional manipulation: consequences for maternal plasma leptin and cortisol and the programming of fetal adipose tissue development. *Endocrinol*, 144(8), 3575-3585 (2003) DOI: 10.1210/en.2003-0320
- 185. WJ Fu, TE Haynes, R Kohli, J Hu, W Shi, TE Spencer, RJ Carroll, CJ Meininger, G Wu: Dietary L-arginine supplementation reduces fat mass in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. *J Nutr*, 135(4), 714-721 (2005)
- 186. W Jobgen, CJ Meininger, SC Jobgen, P Li, M-J Lee, SB Smith, TE Spencer, SK Fried, G Wu: Dietary L-arginine supplementation reduces white fat gain and enhances skeletal muscle and brown fat masses in diet-induced obese rats. *J Nutr*, jn. 108.0.96362 (2008) DOI: 10.3945/jn.108.096362

- 187. P Lucotti, E Setola, LD Monti, E Galluccio, S Costa, EP Sandoli, I Fermo, G Rabaiotti, R Gatti, P Piatti: Beneficial effects of a long-term oral L-arginine treatment added to a hypocaloric diet and exercise training program in obese, insulin-resistant type 2 diabetic patients. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 291(5), E906-E912 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00002.2006
- 188. B Tan, Y Yin, Z Liu, X Li, H Xu, X Kong, R Huang, W Tang, I Shinzato, SB Smith: Dietary L-arginine supplementation increases muscle gain and reduces body fat mass in growing-finishing pigs. *Amino Acids*, 37(1), 169-175 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1007/s00726-008-0148-0
- 189. B Tan, Y Yin, Z Liu, W Tang, H Xu, X Kong, X Li, K Yao, W Gu, SB Smith: Dietary L-arginine supplementation differentially regulates expression of lipid-metabolic genes in porcine adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. *J Nutr Biochem*, 22(5), 441-445 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.03.012
- 190. W Jobgen, WJ Fu, H Gao, P Li, CJ Meininger, SB Smith, TE Spencer, G Wu: High fat feeding and dietary L-arginine supplementation differentially regulate gene expression in rat white adipose tissue. *Amino Acids*, 37(1), 187-198 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-009-0246-7
- 191. XL Tan, Y Yin, Z Wu, C Liu, CD Tekwe, G Wu: Regulatory roles for L-arginine in reducing white adipose tissue. *Front Biosci*, 17, 2237 (2012)
 DOI: 10.2741/4047
- 192. JM Wallace, JS Milne, RP Aitken, CL Adam: Influence of birth weight and gender on lipid status and adipose tissue gene expression in lambs. *J Mol Endocrinol*, 53(1), 131-144 (2014)
 - DOI: 10.1530/JME-14-0123
- 193. S. McCoard, J. Koolaard, A. Charteris and D. Luo: BRIEF COMMUNICATION: Effect of twinning and sex on carcass weight and composition in lambs. *Proc NZ Soc Anim Prod* 70, 133-136 (2010)
- 194. RA Afolayan, NM Fogarty, VM Ingham, AR Gilmour, GM Gaunt, LJ Cummins, T Pollard: Genetic evaluation of crossbred lamb production. 3. Growth and carcass performance of second-cross lambs. Aust J

- Agric Res, 58(5), 457-466 (2007) DOI: 10.1071/AR06310
- 195. G Alexander, D Williams: Shivering and non-shivering thermogenesis during summit metabolism in young lambs. *J Physiol*, 198(2), 251-276 (1968) DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.1968.sp008605
- 196. J Everett-Hincks, K Dodds: Management of maternal-offspring behavior to improve lamb survival in easy care sheep systems. *J Anim Sci*, 86(14 suppl), E259-E270 (2008) DOI: 10.2527/jas.2007-0503
- 197. G Alexander: Quantitative development of adipose tissue in foetal sheep. *Aust J Biol Sci*, 31(5), 489-504 (1978)
- 198. ME Symonds, MA Lomax: Maternal and environmental influences on thermoregulation in the neonate. *Proc Nutr Soc*, 51(02), 165-172 (1992)

 DOI: 10.1079/PNS19920026
- 199. M Satterfield, G Wu: Growth and development of brown adipose tissue: significance and nutritional regulation. Front Biosci, 16, 1589-1608 (2011) DOI: 10.2741/3807
- 200. MC Satterfield, KA Dunlap, DH Keisler, FW Bazer, G. Wu: Arginine nutrition and fetal brown adipose tissue development in nutrient-restricted sheep. *Amino Acids*, 45(3), 489-499 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s00726-011-1168-8
- 201. MC Satterfield, KA Dunlap, DH Keisler, FW Bazer, G Wu: Arginine nutrition and fetal brown adipose tissue development in dietinduced obese sheep. *Amino Acids*, 43(4), 1593-1603 (2012)
 - DOI: 10.1007/s00726-012-1235-9
- 202. S McCoard, N Wards, J Koolaard, MS Salerno: The effect of maternal arginine supplementation on the development of the thermogenic program in the ovine fetus. *Anim Prod Sci*, 54(10), 1843-1847 (2014) DOI: 10.1071/AN14310
- 203. ME Symonds, S Sebert, H Budge: The obesity epidemic: from the environment to epigenetics—not simply a response to dietary manipulation in a thermoneutral environment. *Front Genet*, 2 (2011)

 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2011.00024
- 204. H Asakura: Fetal and neonatal

- thermoregulation. *J Nippon Med Sch*(71), 360-70 (2005)
- 205. SJ Schermer, JA Bird, MA Lomax, D Shepherd, ME Symonds: Effect of fetal thyroidectomy on brown adipose tissue and thermoregulation in newborn lambs. *Reprod Fertil Dev*, 8(6), 995-1002 (1996) DOI: 10.1071/RD9960995
- 206. ME Symonds, A Mostyn, S Pearce, H Budge, T Stephenson: Endocrine and nutritional regulation of fetal adipose tissue development. *J Endocrinol*, 179(3), 293-299 (2003) DOI: 10.1677/joe.0.1790293
- 207. W Chalupa: Rumen bypass and protection of proteins and amino acids. *J Dairy Sci*, 58(8), 1198-1218 (1975)
 DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(75)84697-2
- 208. P Reis, D Tunks, S Munro: Effects of the infusion of amino acids into the abomasum of sheep, with emphasis on the relative value of methionine, cysteine and homocysteine for wool growth. *J Agric Sci*, 114(01), 59-68 (1990) DOI: 10.1017/S0021859600071008
- 209. H Amos, J Evans: Abomasal levels of lysine and methionine in wethers fed polymerized L-lysine-HCl and polymerized L-methionine. *J Anim Sci*, 46(3), 778-786 (1978)
- 210. C. C. Dannelly and R. E. Ardell: Rumen-stable pellets. In: Google Patents, (1980)
- 211. M Wright, S Loerch: Effects of rumenprotected amino acids on ruminant nitrogen balance, plasma amino acid concentrations and performance. *J Anim Sci*, 66(8), 2014-2027 (1988)
- 212. S Wiese, C White, D Masters, J Milton, R Davidson: The growth performance and carcass attributes of Merino and Poll Dorset× Merino lambs fed rumen-protected methionine (Smartamine™-M). *Crop Pasture Sci*, 54(5), 507-513 (2003)
 DOI: 10.1071/AR02173
- 213. G Lobley, T Wester, G Holtrop, J Dibner, D Parker, M Vázquez-A-ón: Absorption and digestive tract metabolism of 2-hydroxy-4-methylthiobutanoic acid in lambs. *J Dairy Sci*, 89(9), 3508-3521 (2006) DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72391-8
- 214. PReis, J Gillespie: Effects of phenylalanine and analogues of methionine and phenylalanine on the composition of wool and mouse hair.

Aust J Biol Sci, 38(1), 151-164 (1985)

215. E Elwakeel, E Titgemeyer, B Faris, D Brake, A Nour, M Nasser: Hydroxymethyl lysine is a source of bioavailable lysine for ruminants. *J Anim Sci*, 90(11), 3898-3904 (2012) DOI: 10.2527/jas.2011-4975

Key Words: Sheep, Amino acids, Production, Reproduction, Invited Review

Send correspondence to: Susan A McCoard, Animal Nutrition & Physiology Team, Animal Nutrition and Health Group, AgResearch Grasslands, Private Bag 11008, Palmerston North, New Zealand, Tel: 64-6-3518230, Fax: 64-6-351-8032, E-mail: sue.mccoard@agresearch.co.nz